
Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday, February 20th,, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the February 20th, 2024, Regular Meeting of The Lyman Select Board. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. Public Hearing – RFP for Aerial Imagery Services

EXCECUTIVE SESSION 
1.M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion regarding personnel matters

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
b. Mail     •MDOT Letter

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 2/5/2024

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #31 in the amount of $27,587.88
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #30 (FY2024) in the amount of $95,769.95

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. RFP Waste Hauling – Review bids/ Updated Contract
b. RFP Aerial Imagery Services – Review bids
c. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any – Public Hearing scheduled March 18th, 2024
d. Discuss chain of communications/ Code of Conduct
e. Discuss Bunganut Booth Repairs, updates if any
f. Review draft personnel policy

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Tax Collector – Monthly Report

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Discuss repairs to Salt Shed
b. Discussion/ Approval of funds for updates to access control system.
c. Approval for Field Use Request Form S.M.A.S.H
d. Reschedule Next Select Board Meeting – Need room for Election Setup.

OTHER 

ADJOURN 



Town of Lyman 
Select Board 11 South Waterboro Rd 

Notice of Public Hearing Lyman, ME 04002 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

Tuesday February 20th, 2024 at 6:00pm located at the Lyman Town 

Hall. (Note: regular Select Board meeting will follow after the public hearing). 

The Select Board will hold a Public Hearing to provide information 

and allow public comment regarding the Request for Proposal (RFP) 

for Aerial Orthophotography & Oblique Imagery services.  

Information of bids received, and RFP proposal form are attached. 

Town Of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd  

Lyman ME 04002  

townmanager@lyman-me.gov 

Tel. (207)-247-0642 

Fax. (207-499-7563 

ITEM #1: (a.) Public Hearing

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov


RFP Aerial Imagery Services 

Open Sealed Bids 2-5-2024 

Awarded Bid - TBD 

RFP’s received 

1. Eagle View

Submitted 2-2-2024

John Gannon

25 Methodist Hill Dr.

Rochester, NY 14623

(607)-742-8159

John.gannon@easgleview.com

www.eagleview.com

Year 1 (2024 – 2025) $12,804 

Year 2 (2025 – 2026) $12,804 

Year 3 (2026 – 2027) $12,804 

Additional Fees/ Services 

Change Finder  $0.43/parcel 

Sketch Inspect  $1.30/parcel 

2. TCB Drones, LLC

Submitted 2-2-2024

Stephanie Rivers

3824 Cedar Springs Rd #746

Dallas, TX 75219

(214)-702-2559

info@TCBDrones.com

tcbdrones.com

Year 1 (2024 – 2025) $97,916.40 

Year 2 (2025 – 2026) $108.708.07 

Year 3 (2026 – 2027) $119,676.40 

Additional Fees/ Services 

Disaster Response Program $775 / hours/person (drone included) 

mailto:John.gannon@easgleview.com
http://www.eagleview.com/
mailto:info@TCBDrones.com
mailto:mgervais@ecmaine.com






TOWN OF LYMAN 
11 South Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002 

Tel: (207)-499-7562  FAX: (207)-499-7563 

Email: townmanager@lyman-me.gov 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
ACQUISITION OF AERIAL ORTHOPHOTOGRAPHY 

AND OBLIQUE IMAGERY 

The Town of Lyman, Maine (“Town”) makes this Request for Proposal (“RFP”) for the purpose of 
acquiring aerial orthophotography and oblique imagery for the entirety of Lyman, Maine.  The Board of 
Selectmen requests the following additional qualifications and information: 

1) GENERAL

• The scope of work is as outlined in this request for proposal. This document does not commit the

Town of Lyman to any contract for any service, supply, or subscription whatsoever. The Town of

Lyman will not reimburse any information or administrative costs incurred as a result of

participation in response to the RFP. All costs associated with response will solely reside at the

responding party’s expense.

• The Town will select the offer deemed most advantageous, appropriate, and beneficial to the
Town - Evaluation based on qualifications, responsiveness, relevant experience, reputation, and
cost

• RIGHT OF REFUSAL. The Town reserves the right to: a) Reject any or all proposals, or to make no

award. b) Select certain applications from the proposals. c) Require modifications to initial

proposals. d) to make partial or multiple awards. e) award based on initial proposals received,

without discussion of such proposals. f) invite selected vendors to make oral presentations to the

evaluations team. Failure of a vendor to comply with the request for meeting may be grounds for

bid rejections. g) excuse technical defects in a proposal when, in its sole discretion, such as

excuse is beneficial to the Town.

• The Town will be the sole judge as to whether any variance is material or immaterial to the
proposal

• The bidder shall not assign or subcontract any agreement, sublet, or subcontract any portion of
the work without the written consent of the Town and the bidder shall bind all subcontractors
approved by the Town to all the terms and conditions of the contract

• The bidder is assumed to be familiar with and agrees to observe and comply with all Federal,
State, and Local Laws, Statutes, Ordinances, and Regulations and shall fully indemnify, save
harmless, and protect the Town, their successors, assigns, agents, customers, affiliates, agents,
and employees against any loss, claim liability damage, and expense arising from the bidder’s
actual or alleged noncompliance with such laws and regulations

• Under Maine’s Freedom of Access Act (FOAA) all records in possession of the Town are public,
unless designated by law as confidential, privileged, or otherwise exempt -   Accordingly, any
documents you submit may be available to the public -  If you believe that documents you submit
contain information that is exempt from disclosure under FOAA, you must mark those sections

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov


you believe exempt as “confidential” - You may also request that the Town inform you of any 
FOAA requests for your submitted documents -  The Town’s legal representation shall make the 
final determination over what is and is not public   

• In connection with any work/services performed, the bidders shall  procure all necessary permits
and licenses applicable to the performance of work contained in the solicitation

• The Town is exempt from paying sales or use tax by State of Maine Statute

• When bidder has not performed or has unsatisfactorily performed the work, the Town may
terminate the contract for default and upon termination for default, payment may be withheld at
the discretion of the Town - Failure on the part of the bidder to fulfill contractual obligations shall
be considered just cause for termination

• Bidders shall use the enclosed bid form and submit additional information/credentials attached
with bid form.

2) SCOPE OF SERVICES

• Provide periodic flyover oblique orthographic imagery services for the entire Town of Lyman in
“leaf off” conditions, non-snow obscured, nor any ice, clouds, or fog, and when the atmosphere
is free of haze, smoke, and dust

• Provide color ortho and oblique photography of images captured simultaneously – GSD 3”
resolution – Georeferenced – Web-based with unlimited access to Lyman staff and associates

• Imagery must be viewable online for planers and first responders use – List any mobile options
for viewing imagery

• Provide imagery from which measurements can be directly taken on a computer screen

• Image tools shall include:  (a) Measuring tools – vertical, horizontal and area, height, bearing,
pitch, elevation, location, and identity (to analyze information contained in uploaded GIS data);
(b) Change analysis; (c) Cloud solutions; and (d) Overlaying GIS data

• Must be delivered with software tools that allow for cataloging, extracting, viewing, measuring,
and analyzing said photography

• Imagery must be compatible with ArcGIS for any derived datasets or application extensions
enabling images to be viewed in ArcGIS

• Must Integrate with ESRI, Harris Govern (CAMA), and First Due (Fire Dept records management
system)

• Must offer Change Finder Program, Sketch Inspect Program, and Building Outlines

• May offer Disaster Response Program – Describe type of disaster coverage, applicable disaster
types, maximum coverage area, and time period during and after that this service will be
available

• Provide a complete explanation of training – Include estimated amount of time required for
training for end users as well as IT and GIS employees

• Must provide Past Years Capture History going forward

• Start Year – Spring 2024 with Ortho, Oblique, and Building Outlines

• Second & Third Year – Spring 2025 & 2026 with Ortho

• Provide technical details critical to the successful acquisition and processing of imagery

• Provide a complete explanation of technical support you will provide



3) COSTS & PAYMENT SCHEDULE

• Provide an outline of entire annual cost breakdown distributed over a 3-year payout
configuration with option to renew subject to approval

• Advise if there will be any additional fees for licensing, upgrades to any software, or maintenance
fees

4) AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS

• Following the initial “Start Year” term, the subsequent 2-year terms will be subject to
appropriation of funds in the Town’s Fiscal Budgets voted annually

• Include Municipal Non-Appropriation Clause with detailed explanation of Town responsibilities
for payment should vote to appropriate fail

• The Town shall be the sole judge and authority in determining the availability of funds

5) BID FORMS

• Lyman Town Hall, Town Manager, 11 South Waterboro Rd, Lyman, ME 04002
Lindsay Gagne, 207-247-0642, townmanager@lyman-me.gov

6) DEADLINE
• February 5, 2024, Lyman Town Hall, by 3:00 p.m.

7) BID OPENING

• February 5, 2024, Lyman Town Hall, 6:00 p.m.

8) INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

• Vendor, at its own expense, shall provide and maintain sufficient liability insurance against claims
or lawsuits which result from the actions of service providers, its employees, and agents in
accordance with what is required by the Town

• Nothing contained in these insurance requirements is to be construed as limiting the extent of
the contractor’s responsibility for payment of damages resulting from performance or completion
of work

9) INFRINGEMENT

• Any interested party shall not infringe on patents, copyrights, trademarks, or intellectual property
rights – The consequences of violation shall be borne by the selected party

10) INDEMNIFICATION

• You agree to hold the Town harmless from any claim for death, injury, property damage, or other
loss which may result from your performance of the contract – If such a claim is made against the
Town, you will defend the Town and pay any amount (indemnify) for which the Town may be held
liable in a legal action for such claims.

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov


PROPOSAL FORM:
Due: February 5th, 2024 by 3:00PM EST. 

To: Town of Lyman, Select 
Board RFP: 
11 South Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 

submit additional information/credentials attached with bid form. 

Annual cost per year 

Year 1(2024   2025): _____________________________ 

Year 2(2025 - 2026): ______________________________ 

Year 3(2026   2027): _____________________________ 

Additional Fees/services, list out, if any 

Additional Services Fee 

_________________________________________________ $____________________ 

_________________________________________________ $____________________ 

_________________________________________________ $____________________ 

_________________________________________________ $____________________ 

The undersigned individual/firm/business guarantees this price for sixty days (60) from the proposal due date. The undersigned submits 
this proposal without collusion with any other person, individual, firm or agency. The undersigned ensures the authority to act on behalf of 
the corporation, partnership or individual they represent; and has read and agreed to all of the terms, requests, or conditions written 
herein by the Town of Lyman.   

By signing this form, the firm listed below hereby affirms that its bid meets the minimum specifications and standards as listed above. 

Signature _______________________________________Company ________________________________________ 

Name (print) ____________________________________Telephone # _____________________________________ 

Title __________________________________________ ___Fax # _____________________________________________ 

Address ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Email Address ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Web Site ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 







































































From: Steffanie Rivers
To: Town Manager
Subject: Re: RFP Questions
Date: Tuesday, February 13, 2024 2:15:18 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png
image004.png

Thanks for your email.
I apologize for that typo:
$108,708.07 is what should be listed for year 2 on our proposal for this contract.

Let me know if you want me to resubmit that page of the proposal with the correct numbers or if
this email will service your purpose.

Regards,
Steffanie Rivers
TCB Drones, LLC
(214)702-2559

From: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, February 13, 2024 11:06 AM
To: Steffanie Rivers <info@tcbdrones.com>
Subject: RE: RFP Questions

Good afternoon,

Could you clarify the pricing on the bid for Year 2? It say $198 I believe and we thought that might
be a typo.

Thank you,

Lindsay Gagne
Town Manager
FOAA officer

11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002
207-247-0642 

207-499-7562

selectboard@lyman-me.gov 
   lyman-me.gov

Under Maine’s Freedom of Access (“Right to Know”) law, all e-mail and e-mail attachments received or prepared for use in matters
concerning Town business or containing information relating to Town business are likely to be regarded as public records which
may be inspected by any person upon request, unless otherwise made confidential by law. If you have received this message in
error, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Thank you for your cooperation.

mailto:info@tcbdrones.com
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov
https://lyman-me.gov/


































ITEM #2: (b.) Mail



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday February 5th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 1 of 6 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Rusty “Ralph” Blackington (Chair), Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair) – Via Zoom, 
Jessica Picard, Amber Swett, Victoria Gavel 
Selectboard members absent:  None 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. Historical Society Presents – How Lyman Got Its Name

Steve Lord - made a presentation on how Lyman got its name and presented a framed display to the
Board.

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
Joe Wagner – States that he hopes everyone reviews the meeting from 1/2/24.  Requests that if
anyone has a question regarding his conduct to see him personally.

b. Mail  •York County Sheriff’s Monthly Report (2) •SMPDC Letter  •Red Cross Letter  •Insider Bulletin
•York County Commissioners Letter   •Maine Public Letter

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 1/2/2024

Jessica Picard - Motions to approve the minutes.  Vicky Gavel seconds.  Motion passes:  5-0-0
b. Review / Approve meeting minutes 1/18/2024

Jessica Picard - Motions to approve the minutes.  Amber Swett seconds.
Motion Passes: 4-1-0 (Jessica Picard, Ralph Blackington, Thomas Hatch, Amber Swett approve;
Vicky Gavel abstains she was not present)

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #28 in the amount of $32,337.96

Vicky Gavel - Motions to approve warrant.  Jessica Picard seconds.  Motion passes:  5-0-0
b. Payroll Warrant #29 in the amount of $29,726.91

Vicky Gavel - Motions to approve warrant.  Amber Swett seconds.  Motion passes:  5-0-0
c. Accounts Payable Warrant #30 (FY2024) in the amount of $655,296.29

Vicky Gavel – Motions to approve warrant.   Jessica Picard seconds.  Motion passes:  5-0-0

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Open Sealed Bids – Waste Hauling

CIA Salvage 
Submitted 1-31-2024 

Shawn Girard 

366 Sokokis Trail 

Limerick, ME 04048 

www.Ciasalvageinc.com 

Rental fee per container $50.00___________ 

Fuel Surcharge proposal: Only if fuel price raises over $5.75 per gallon charge will be $12.00 per trip_ 

Cost per 
haul 

Estimated 
trips per year 

Total cost 
per year 

Year 1 (March 5th, 2024 – March 4th, 2025) $190 250 $47,500.00 

Year 2 (March 5th, 2025 – March 4th, 2026) $205 250 $51,250.00 

Year 3 (March 5th, 2026 – March 4th, 2027) $220 250 $55,000.00 
DRAFT

ITEM #3: (a.) Minutes

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/
http://www.ciasalvageinc.com/


Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday February 5th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 2 of 6 

Breggia Sanitation 

Submitted 1-30-2024 

Gino Breggia 

14 Kismet Lane 

Falmouth, ME 04105 

bregiasanitation@gmail.com 

Rental fee per container $115.00___________ 

Fuel Surcharge proposal: $0.55 cents per mile in the event fuel prices rise 22% or more than current conditions. (At 

time of submission, fuel costs are $4.10 p/g)_ 

(note: based above, if fuel rises above 5.002/gallon the surcharge amount will be charged) 

b. Open Sealed Bids – Aerial Mapping Services

Eagle View 
Submitted 2-2-2024 

John Gannon 

25 Methodist Hill Dr. 

Rochester, NY 14623 

www.eagleview.com 

TCB Drones, LLC 
Submitted 2-2-2024 

Stephanie Rivers 

3824 Cedar Springs Rd #746 

Dallas, TX 75219 

tcbdrones.com  

c. Franchise Agreement, Discuss next steps, Updates from Tony/Brad. Tabled from last meeting –
Schedule Public Hearing for Ordinance Amendments
Discussion regarding amendments recommended by Tony Vigue. Public hearing will need to provide
thirty days’ notice. A Public Hearing is scheduled for March 18, 2024 at 6:00pm at the Town Hall

Cost 
per 
haul 

Estimated 
trips per 
year 

Total cost per 
year 

Year 1 (March 5th, 2024 – March 4th, 2025) $463.94 340 $157,739.60 

Year 2 (March 5th, 2025 – March 4th, 2026) $482.50 340 $164,050.00 

Year 3 (March 5th, 2026 – March 4th, 2027) $501.80 340 $170,612.00 

Year 1 (2024 – 2025) $12,804 

Year 2 (2025 – 2026) $12,804 

Year 3 (2026 – 2027) $12,804 

Additional Fees/ Services 

Change Finder  $0.43/parcel 

Sketch Inspect  $1.30/parcel 

Year 1 (2024 – 2025) $97,916.40 

Year 2 (2025 – 2026) $108,708.97 

Year 3 (2026 – 2027) $119,676.40 

Additional Fees/ Services 

Disaster Response Program $775 / hours/person 
(drone included) DRAFT

mailto:bregiasanitation@gmail.com
http://www.eagleview.com/
mailto:mgervais@ecmaine.com


Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday February 5th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 3 of 6 

d. MDOT Request approval for transporting materials, project on Rt 202, Updates attached
Discussion ensues regarding the attachment and what roads will be used. The Board agrees the use
of local roads is very minimal and agrees to sign approval for MDOT in packet.
Jessica Picard – Motions to approve MDOT requests for transporting materials for the Route 202
project.
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

e. Cemetery Committee – Updates from Cemetery Committee
Discussion confirming the committee is not requesting more funds but provided an updated list as
to which cemeteries have been completed for tree work and which cemeteries have not yet been
completed for tree work.

f. Discuss chain of communications
Lindsay Gagne – Suggests a code of conduct for the board to help clarify how the board should be
conducting themselves. Some examples include open meeting laws, communications with
employees, filtering inquiries through the Town Manager, communications and FOAA laws, trainings
for Select Board members, etc.
Victoria Gavel – States there is already a Charter, Code of Ethics, Comprehensive Plan and this
would be mixing up too many things.
Jessica Picard – States it could be something more of an orientation tool for new board members to
help them get caught up on how the board operates and functions.
Thomas Hatch – States it would be beneficial to draft something that clarifies how the board should
conduct themselves professionally to help keep things in order.
Amber Swett – States the board should keep the conversation going.

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Road Commissioner –

Tom Croteau – States he did a site walk with the Planning Board to look at a proposed private road.
Everything looked very good. He’s put some signs up at Kennebunk Pond to try to keep some of the
foot traffic out of the Landscaping work area. The silt fencing is also very slippery under the snow,
and he cautions those walking on it. He’s opened the gate at Bunganut so folks can plow and utilize
the parking space. He’s replaced a few street signs and will be working on taking down a tree leaning
over Frye’s Bridge Road.

b. Fire Chief –
Ralph Blackington – Commends GMFR and the Fire Chief for all the hard work they do and their
expertise and professionalism in the field. He has recently had a personal experience with GMFR and
was very grateful for their services.

c. CEO – Quarterly Report – Report reviewed in Agenda Packet
d. Tax Collector – Monthly Report – Report reviewed in Agenda Packet
e. Bunganut Park Committee –

Michelle Feliccitti – States the committee has been reaching out the YMCA for information they
may have on the trail systems there. They noticed some trees fell down this Winter in the Pines
area, although not in the water. They are planning a Spring Clean-up of the Pines and are hoping to
get the small building in that area cleaned up and clear the small sapling trees around it. They have
been looking into grants but it appears they need more thorough surveys of the wetlands and soil
studies so they will be considering looking into fundraising events to help drive some funding to get
them started. They are also looking into getting a shed donated to repair the damages to the ticket
booth at the Park. She will be reaching out to some vendors soon.

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday February 5th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 4 of 6 

f. Comprehensive Plan Committee – Updates from Committee
Michelle Feliccitti – The Committee is beginning to develop a survey that will go out to the public
and collect feedback. They are also looking into ways to collect demographic information. She’s
been in touch with someone from the Agricultural Department that works with Towns
Comprehensive Plans who is also willing to meet with the Committee at no cost to help guide them
in the process.

g. Treasurer –  Expense Report – Reviewed in Agenda Packet
h. Town Manager – Progress Report

Lindsay Gagne – States the cameras have been installed at Kennebunk Pond and are up and
running. What’s left will be the installation of the automatic gate and the remaining landscaping
work which will pickup again in the Spring. As more committees are engaging in projects, we are
looking into setting up group emails and some access to Microsoft SharePoint to help them provide
more tools. During the budgeting process IT will be providing some information on potential
upgrades to the meeting room because more committees are utilizing accessibility to record and
stream meetings. The State has implemented a new Ongoing Absentee Ballot request as of February
1st which allows voters over 65 years of age or who self-identify with a disability to request absentee
ballots to be issued to them automatically for all elections. Information will be updated on the
Towns website soon.

i. Planning Board – Quarterly Report – Reviewed in Agenda Packet
j. Other  -

Thomas Hatch – States the Board should consider looking at the fallen trees at Bunganut sooner
than later so we can get a jump start on cleaning them up. There is some discussion that Victoria
Gavel and Ralph Blackington will follow up.

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Appoint Warden for March 5th, Election

Jessica Picard – Motions to appoint Michelle Feliccitti as Warden for the March 5th, 2024
Presidential Primary.
Thoams Hatch – Seconds the motion.
Motion passes: 4-1-0 (Jessica Picard, Thomas Hatch, Ralph Blackington, Victoria Gavel in favor;
Amber Swett abstains)

b. Discuss Agenda format changes
There is discussion of have department reports sent in to be added to the agenda packet rather than
having standing place holders on the agenda. The board agrees to solicit for reports, at least
quarterly if not more, and have written reports submitted for the Agenda Packet.

c. Discuss Bunganut booth repairs
Discussion regarding vandalism of the booth at Bunganut. Because the Town has a contract with the
YMCA, the Town is required to maintain all maintenance and repairs of the buildings and facilities.
The board will need to decide if they want to spend $1000 on the deductible for the insurance claim
and repair the damages or if they would rather replace the entire booth as has been discussed in the
past due to the booths poor condition all together. If the Board chooses to replace the booth, they
will need to also consider going to the Zoning Board of Appeals to apply for a variance because the
booth does not meet current set back requirements of 75-feet from front boundary line. Moving the
booth back 75-feet will disrupt the traffic flow of the parking lot. However, in the long-term plan
while the Bunganut Park Committee is working to develop improvement goals for the park, the
parking area can always be modified in the future where the booth could be placed in a more
conforming area. For now, options may be limited. The board agrees to have the Bunganut Park
Committee solicit for donations before they make a decision which route they will go.

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday February 5th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 5 of 6 

d. Review draft Personnel Policy
There is some discussion of the draft policy. The Board agrees they will need more time to review.
Some questions and notes have been added to the policy for the Board to consider. Such as paying
out PTO, if the Board will choose to pay out vacation accruals, find a middle ground, or not pay out
at all. Other notes are included in the draft.

e. Review/ Vote on Resignation submitted
Jessica Picard – Motions to accept the resignation of the CEO.
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion.
Motion passes: 4-0-1 (Ralph Blackington, Thomas Hatch, Jessica Picard, Amber Swett in favor;
Victoria Gavel opposed)

f. Review Committee Applicant – ORC (2 applicants)
Amber Swett – Motions to go with the recommendation of the Town Manager.
Thomas Hatch – Seconds the motion
Motion passes: 5-0-0
The Board appoints Eric Green to the Ordinance Review Committee for a term ending June 30, 2025

g. Review Committee Applicant – ZBA (1 applicant)
Amber Swett – Motions to go with the recommendation of the Town Manager.
Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion
Motion passes: 5-0-0
The Board appoints Stephen Walker to the Zoning Board of Appeals as an Alternate Member for a
term ending June 30, 2025

h. Review Appointment of PB Member
Jessica Picard – Motions to proceed with the Town Manager’s and Planning Board’s
recommendation.
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion.
Motion passes: 5-0-0
The Board appoints Cecile Dupuis as a regular Planning Board Member for a term ending June 30,
2025. Cecile was previously an Alternate Planning Board member and now the alternate seat will
become vacant.

i. Review/Approve Resolution to manage accounts policy
Jessica Picard – Motions to approve the resolution to manage accounts policy.
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

OTHER 

Lindsay Gagne – Asks the board if they’d like to schedule another Budget Workshop.  
A workshop is scheduled for February 22, 2024 at 6:00pm at the Town Hall.  
Lindsay Gagne – Asks the board if they’d like to include having a public hearing for the Aerial RFP to allow for public 
comment.  
A public Hearing is scheduled February 20, 2024 at 6:00pm at the Town Hall.  

EXCECUTIVE SESSION 

ADJOURN 

Amber Swett – Motions to adjourn. Jessica Picard seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday February 5th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 6 of 6 

__________________________________________ 
Rusty “Ralph” Blackington  

__________________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch  

_____________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_____________________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 

_____________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel

I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 6 pages 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated February 5th, 2024 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne

DRAFT



ITEM #4: (a.) Payroll Warrant





ITEM #4: (b.) AP Warrant













RFP Waste Hauling 

Open Sealed Bids 2-5-2024 

Awarded Bid - TBD 

RFP’s received 

1. CIA Salvage

Submitted 1-31-2024

Shawn Girard

366 Sokokis Trail

Limerick, ME 04048

(207)-793-8193

www.Ciasalvageinc.com

ciasalvage@gmail.com

Cost per haul Estimated trips 
per year 

Total cost per year 

Year 1 (March 5th, 2024 – March 4th, 2025) $190 250 $47,500.00 

Year 2 (March 5th, 2025 – March 4th, 2026) $205 250 $51,250.00 

Year 3 (March 5th, 2026 – March 4th, 2027) $220 250 $55,000.00 

Rental fee per container $50.00___________ 

Fuel Surcharge proposal: Only if fuel price raises over $5.75 per gallon charge will be $12.00 per 

trip___________________________________________________________________________ 

ITEM #5: (a.) RFP - Waste Hauling

http://www.ciasalvageinc.com/
mailto:ciasalvage@gmail.com


2. Breggia Sanitation

Submitted 1-30-2024

Gino Breggia

14 Kismet Lane

Falmouth, ME 04105

(207)-274-3404

bregiasanitation@gmail.com

Cost per haul Estimated trips 
per year 

Total cost per year 

Year 1 (March 5th, 2024 – March 4th, 2025) $463.94 340 $157,739.60 

Year 2 (March 5th, 2025 – March 4th, 2026) $482.50 340 $164,050.00 

Year 3 (March 5th, 2026 – March 4th, 2027) $501.80 340 $170,612.00 

Rental fee per container $115.00___________ 

Fuel Surcharge proposal: $0.55 cents per mile in the event fuel prices rise 22% or more than 

current conditions. (At time of submission, fuel costs are $4.10 p/g)____________________ 

(note: based above, if fuel rises above 5.002/gallon the surcharge amount will be charged) 

Updated Pricing
Submitted 2-6-2024 

Cost per haul Estimated trips 
per year 

Total cost per year 

Year 1 (March 5th, 2024 – March 4th, 2025) $240 340 $81,600.00 

Year 2 (March 5th, 2025 – March 4th, 2026) $249.60 340 $84,864.00 

Year 3 (March 5th, 2026 – March 4th, 2027) $259.58 340 $88,257.20 

Rental fee per container $45.00___________ 

Fuel Surcharge proposal: $0.55 cents per mile in the event fuel prices rise 22% or more than 

current conditions. (At time of submission, fuel costs are $4.10 p/g)____________________ 

(note: based above, if fuel rises above 5.002/gallon the surcharge amount will be charged) 

mailto:bregiasanitation@gmail.com


CIA SALAVAGE







mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line



BREGGIA SANITATION



mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line



From: Breggia Sanitation Dumpster Rental
To: Town Manager
Subject: Adjusted RFP
Date: Tuesday, February 6, 2024 2:20:42 PM
Attachments: Adjusted RFP-Waste-Hauling-Transfer-Station Lyman.pdf

Hi Lindsey,

Here are the new numbers.  Please let me know if you think these will work.  If there is
anything you have issues or questions with please let me know and I can try and see if
anything can be done.

I really appreciate the opportunity and hope the board finds the value in our services.  

-- 
Gino Breggia
Breggia Sanitation
BreggiaSanitation@gmail.com
207-274-3404

mailto:breggiasanitation@gmail.com
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:BreggiaSanitation@gmail.com



 


 


TOWN OF LYMAN 
11 South Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002 


Tel: (207)-499-7562  FAX: (207)-499-7563 


Email: townmanager@lyman-me.gov 


 


REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
Waste Hauling 


 


The Town of Lyman is requesting proposals from qualified Contractors to provide waste hauling services 


for the Towns Transfer Station. The intention of this RFP is to solicit responses and formal proposals and 


select a single organization to provide services to the Town of Lyman. 


The scope of work is as outlined in this request for proposal. This document does not commit the Town 


of Lyman to any contract for any service, supply, or subscription whatsoever. The Town of Lyman will 


not reimburse any information or administrative costs incurred as a result of participation in response to 


the RFP. All costs associated with response will solely reside at the responding party’s expense.  


 


Please submit your proposal in a sealed envelope to the Town of Lyman by February 5th, 2024 by 


3:00pm EST. Proposals must be addressed to: 


Town of Lyman, Select Board 


RFP: Waste Hauling 


11 South Waterboro Rd 


Lyman, ME 04002 


Please mark sealed proposals plainly “RFP: Waste Hauling”. Proposals will be opened publicly during 


the Select Boards regular meeting on February 5th, 2024.  The Town will not except late bids.  


Questions regarding this request for proposal should be directed via email to: 


townmanager@lyman-me.gov  


Or call the Town Manager Office: 207-247-0642 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 



mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov





 


 


Project Description & Scope of Work 
 
The Town operates a Solid Waste Transfer Station and Recycling Center located on 988 South 
Waterboro Road. This facility is staffed Tuesday 8am-12pm, Thursday 8am-4pm, and Saturdays & 
Sundays 8am-4pm.  
 


Scope of Services 
 
Containers 


• Household Watse : Two (2) 45-yard breakaway roll off containers 


• Recycling : Two (2) 45-yard breakaway roll off containers 
 
Container Rental 


Contractor must be able to provide a minimum of Three (3) to a maximum of Four (4) container 
rentals.  
 


• Metal : One (1) 30-yard open top roll off container 


• Wood & Furniture : Two (2) 30-yard open top, roll off containers 


• Spare : One (1) 30-yard open top, roll off container 
 


Container Transport/Hauling 
Our solid waste and recycling are taken to ECO Maine in Portland 


Metals will need to be hauled by contractor to a preferred vendor or as outlined in contractors bid 
proposal. 
 
Estimated hauling trips per year equal to approximately 340 trips based on prior 5-years.  


 
Terms of Agreement :  


Terms are as outlined in the Towns Waste Hauling Service Agreement and contract shall run for 
Three (3) years from March 5th, 2024 to March 4th, 2027. Contractor must be available to respond to 
service requests within 24-hours of request and must be available for weekend pickups.  


 
Insurance Certificate :  


Contractor shall provide the Town with current insurance requirement per Town policy, including, 
but not limited to, General Liability, Workers Compensation, and General Auto Liability.  


 
Fuel Surcharge :  


Contractor shall outline in bid proposal conditions for fuel surcharge prices.  
 
Payment Schedule :  


Contractor shall outline in bid proposal price per transport of container. Metal hauling shall specify 
parameters for price per transport of container and arbitration methods for materials sold on the 
metals market. Contractor shall specify anticipated inflationary increases per year of the three-year 
term, not to include COLA increases.  
 
 
 
 


 
 







 


 


Conditions and Instructions to Bidders 
 
1. Bidders shall use the enclosed bid form and submit additional information/credentials attached with 


bid form. 
 


2. Proposals must include separate line-item costs for any or all the items outlined on the proposal 
form. 


 


3. Proposals must be completed in full and must be signed by a firm official or representative. Proposals   
may be withdrawn prior to the time set for the official opening. 


 


4. Proposals will be opened publicly. Bidders or representatives may be present at opening.  
 


5. Issuance of this RFP and receipt of proposals does not commit the Town to award a contract. The 
Town reserves the right to postpone receipt date, accepting or rejecting any or all proposals received 
in response to this RFP, or to negotiate with any of the consultants/firms submitting an RFP, or to 
cancel all or part of this RFP. 


 


7. No contract may be assigned without board approval and contract must be signed by at least three 
members of the board.   


 


8. Please state “RFP Waste Hauling” on submitted, sealed envelope. 
 


9. The Town of Lyman reserves the right to waive any formality and technicality, whichever is deemed 
best for the interest of the Town. 


  
 


The Select Board will review sealed bids in an open public meeting and may, at the boards’ discretion, delay 
award pending further review. It should be noted that the contract resulting from this RFP will be awarded to 
the respondent whose proposal is determined to be in the “best interest” of the Town. Therefore, the 
proposal offering the lowest cost may not necessarily be the proposal that is selected for award.  
 
RIGHT OF REFUSAL. The Town reserves the right to: a) Reject any or all proposals, or to make no award. 


b) Select certain applications from the proposals. c) Require modifications to initial proposals. d) to 


make partial or multiple awards. e) award based on initial proposals received, without discussion of such 


proposals. f) invite selected vendors to make oral presentations to the evaluations team. Failure of a 


vendor to comply with the request for meeting may be grounds for bid rejections. g) excuse technical 


defects in a proposal when, in its sole discretion, such as excuse is beneficial to the Town.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


PROPOSAL FORM: 


Due: February 5th, 2024 by 3:00PM EST. 


 


To: Town of Lyman, Select Board     


RFP: Waste Hauling 


11 South Waterboro Rd 


Lyman, ME 04002 


Contractor must provide separate line item as outlined below: 


Waste hauling price, per trip/year 


 


Cost per haul 
Estimated 


trips per year Total cost per year 


Year 1(March 5th ,2024 – March 4th, 2025): $  $ 


Year 2(March 5th ,2025 – March 4th, 2026): $  $ 


Year 3(March 5th ,2026 – March 4th, 2027): $  $ 


 


Fuel surcharge proposal 


_________________________________________________________________ 


_________________________________________________________________ 


 


Container rental fees (30-yard open top, roll off container) 


Per container_________________________ (Indicate per month/year) 


 


The undersigned individual/firm/business guarantees this price for sixty days (60) from the proposal due date. The undersigned 


submits this proposal without collusion with any other person, individual, firm or agency. The undersigned ensures the 


authority to act on behalf of the corporation, partnership or individual they represent; and has read and agreed to all of the 


terms, requests, or conditions written herein by the Town of Lyman.   


By signing this form, the firm listed below hereby affirms that its bid meets the minimum specifications and standards as listed 


above. 


Signature ____________________________________ Company ________________________________________ 


Name (print) _________________________________ Telephone # _____________________________________ 


Title __________________________________________ Fax # _____________________________________________ 


Address __________________________________________________________________________________________ 


Email Address ___________________________________________________________________________________ 


Web Site _________________________________________________________________________________________ 





		Telephone: 207-274-3404

		Fax: 

		Estimated trips per year: 340

		fill_9: 81,600.00

		Estimated trips per year_2: 340

		fill_10: 84,864.00

		Estimated trips per year_3: 340

		fill_11: 88,257.20

		Address: 14 Kismet Lane. Falmouth,ME 04105

		Email Address: Breggiasanitation@gmail.com

		Web Site: 

		Text1: 240.00

		Text2: 249.60

		Text3: 259.58

		Text4: .55 cents per mile in the event fuel prices rise 22% or more than

		Text5: current conditions. At the time of this submission, fuel costs are $4.10 p/g

		Text6: F.Gino Breggia

		Text7: Breggia Sanitation

		Text8: Owner

		Text10: $45.00 per month







PROPOSAL FORM:
Due: February 5th, 2024 by 3:00PM EST.

To: Town of Lyman, Select Board 
RFP: Waste Hauling 
11 South Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 

Contractor must provide separate line item as outlined below: 

Waste hauling price, per trip/year 

Cost per haul 
Estimated 

trips per year Total cost per year 

Year 1(March 5th ,2024  March 4th, 2025): $ $ 

Year 2(March 5th ,2025  March 4th, 2026): $ $ 

Year 3(March 5th ,2026  March 4th, 2027): $ $ 

Fuel surcharge proposal 

_________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________ 

Container rental fees (30-yard open top, roll off container) 

Per container_________________________ (Indicate per month/year) 

The undersigned individual/firm/business guarantees this price for sixty days (60) from the proposal due date. The undersigned 
submits this proposal without collusion with any other person, individual, firm or agency. The undersigned ensures the 
authority to act on behalf of the corporation, partnership or individual they represent; and has read and agreed to all of the 
terms, requests, or conditions written herein by the Town of Lyman.   

By signing this form, the firm listed below hereby affirms that its bid meets the minimum specifications and standards as listed 
above. 

Signature ____________________________________ Company ________________________________________ 

Name (print) _________________________________ Telephone # _____________________________________ 

Title __________________________________________ Fax # _____________________________________________ 

Address __________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Email Address ___________________________________________________________________________________ 

Web Site _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line





mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line



mnikel
Line













Page 1 of 6 

SERVICE AGREEMENT 

Refuse & Metal Hauling 2024 - 2027 

THIS AGREEMENT is made this         day of                 , 2024 by and between the INHABITANTS OF THE TOWN 

OF LYMAN, a municipal corporation existing under the laws of the State of Maine and located in the County of York, 
State of Maine (hereinafter “TOWN”) and _____________________________ (hereinafter “Contractor”).  

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, after due consideration of the mutual promises made by each party to the other, the parties covenant and 
agree as follows: 

I. SCOPE OF SERVICES

Except as otherwise stated in the Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall furnish the materials, supplies, equipment,
vehicle, facilities, and labor required to provide those services pursuant to paragraph VII, except as otherwise modified by 
this agreement.  

The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the professional quality, timely completion, and the coordination 
of all services furnished by the CONTRACTOR under this Agreement. The CONTRACTOR shall, without additional 
compensation, correct or revise any errors or deficiencies in his services. Deficiencies are defined as willful or negligent 
acts that distort or falsify or otherwise fail to comply to the terms of agreement or meet the state of the art of the products 
and services developed and provided hereunder, or willful or negligent non assignment of personnel or assignment of 
unqualified personnel to perform duties hereunder.  

Neither Town’s review, approval, or acceptance of, nor payment for, any of the services shall be construed to 
operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or any cause of action arising out of the performance of this 
Agreement, and the CONTRACTOR shall remain liable in accordance with applicable law for all damages to Town 
caused by the CONTRACTOR’S willful or negligent performance of any of the services furnished under this Agreement. 

II. TERM: AGREEMENT SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION: EXTENSION OF TERM

The term of this agreement shall commence on March 5th, 2024 and shall be for a term of three (3) years, unless
sooner terminated as provided herein. The Town holds the option to renew contract beyond the three (3) years upon 
mutual agreement between the parties. The Town holds the option to NOT renew for any reason. Each year of this 
agreement is subject to the appropriation by the annual Town Meeting. If the Town Meeting fails to authorize such 
funding during any year of this Agreement, the Agreement shall terminate and become null and void at the end of the last 
year for which funding has been authorized. The Town holds the option to NOT renew the contract on poor performance. 

Required services to be performed shall be completed strictly according to the schedule set forth in paragraph VII. 
CONTRACTOR’S failure to adequately transport refuse and/or metals per this Agreement shall be cause for termination 
of this contract pursuant to Paragraph XIII.  

DRAFT
ITEM #5: (a.) Waste Hauling Contract



Page 2 of 6 

III. INDEMNIFICATION

CONTRACTOR shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the TOWN, its officers, employees and agents from
and against all claims, damages, losses and expenses (including attorney’s fees and costs) arising out of or resulting from 
the performance (or nonperformance) of the work required under this Agreement and is caused in whole or in part by an 
intentional or negligent act or omission of CONTRACTOR, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by it, or anyone 
for whose acts it may be liable, regardless of whether such claim, damage, loss or expense is caused in part by a party 
indemnified under this paragraph. Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or 
obligations of indemnity if that would otherwise exist as to a party or person described in this paragraph.  

IV. INSURANCE

CONTRACTOR shall provide the following insurances

Public Liability Insurance (or Commercial General Liability) in the amount of not less than One Million
Dollars ($1,000,000), combined single limit, to protect the CONTRACTOR and the TOWN from claims and damages 
that may arise from operations under this Agreement, whether such operations be by CONTRACTOR or by anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by it. In the event of any amendment to the Maine Torts Claims Act, 14 M.R.S.A §8101-
8118, that increases the limitation of liability of the TOWN under such Act, CONTRACTOR shall increase its amount 
of coverage so that it is not less than the limitation of the liability of the TOWN established under the Act.  

Automobile Liability Insurance in the amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined 
single limit, to protect the CONTRACTOR and the TOWN from claims and damages that may arise from operations 
under this Agreement, whether such operations be by CONTRACTOR or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by 
it. In the event of any amendment to the Maine Torts Claims Act, 14 M.R.S.A §8101-8118, that increases the limitation of 
liability of the TOWN under such Act, CONTRACTOR shall increase its amount of coverage so that it is not less than 
the limitation of the liability of the TOWN established under the Act 

Worker’s Compensation Insurance in amounts required by Maine law and Employer’s Liability Insurance, as 
necessary, as required by Maine law. If in the event the Contractor is not required to carry workers compensation 
according to Maine law, then the Contractor must provide the Town with an approved independent contractors status from 
the State of Maine.  

In addition, the contractor must complete and submit a document entitled “Town of Lyman, Hold Harmless 
Agreement” as per Town Policy and submit a W9 form, if not already on record.  

Deductible Amount: The deductible amount in any insurance policy required under this section shall not exceed 
Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) without the prior written consent of the TOWN. 

All such insurance policies shall name the TOWN and its officers, agents, and employees as additional insureds, 
except that purpose of Workers’ Compensation Insurance, CONTRACTOR instead may provide a written waiver of 
subrogation rights against the TOWN, as permitted by Maine law. All insurance policies shall be issued by companies 
authorized to do business under the laws of the State of Maine, shall be in form satisfactory to the TOWN and shall 
contain a provision prohibiting cancellation except upon at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the TOWN and 
shall contain a complete waiver by the insurer of subrogation against the TOWN. All such insurance policies will be 
primary in the event of a loss arising from CONTRACOR’S performance and shall provide that where there is more than 
one insured, the policy will operate, except for the limitations of liability, as if there were a separate policy covering each 
insured. CONTRACTOR shall not commence work under the Agreement until it has obtained all insurance coverages 
required under this subparagraph and any insurance policies have been approved by the TOWN.  

DRAFT



Page 3 of 6

All such insurance policies shall have a retroactive date which is earlier of the date of the Agreement between the 
parties or CONTRACTOR’S commencement of services hereunder. 

V. VEHICLES

All vehicles utilized by the CONTRACTOR in the performance of services under this Agreement shall be
licensed in the State of Maine and shall be operated by drivers with the required State of Maine driver’s licenses. Each 
vehicle shall comply with all applicable state, local and federal regulations. Vehicles and other equipment shall be kept in 
good repair and in sanitary condition.  

VI. PERMITS AND LICENSES

CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the cost, acquisition and maintenance of any permits or licenses
necessary for the performance of work under this Agreement. 

VII. SERVICES AND EQUIPMENT PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR

CONTRACTOR will furnish all vehicles, materials, personnel, tools, and equipment, except as otherwise
specified herein, and do everything necessary and proper to satisfactorily perform the Services required by this 
Agreement. 

CONTRACTOR shall provide transportation service for a forty-five (45)-cubic yard container located at the 
Lyman Transfer Station to the ECO Maine facility located on Blueberry Road in Portland, Maine. CONTRACTOR shall 
provide such service within twenty-four (24) hours after receiving notice from the Town or its Transfer Station Attendant 
that the container is full. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for providing a container as a “box swap” when it collects 
a full container from the Transfer Station. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for emptying a full container at ECO 
Maine in accordance will all applicable rules and regulations of ECO Maine. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for 
holding the empty container owned by the TOWN for utilization in the next following “box swap”. The 
CONTRACTOR’s vehicle driver who picks up the requested container will sign the weight sheets and get the weight 
attendant to sign the appropriate weight sheets to be turned in with the invoices submitted to the TOWN.

CONTRACTOR shall provide transport service for scrap metal container located at the Lyman Transfer Station 
to a preferred vendor agreed upon by the TOWN. The CONTRACTOR shall provide such service within twenty-four 
(24) hours after receiving notice from the Town or its Transfer Station Attendant that the container is full.
CONTRACTOR shall provide for all transportation and removal of scrap metal container material, including delivery,
use, and pickup of roll off container, from the Lyman Transfer Station.

CONTRACTOR shall take reasonable care when handling and transporting containers owned by the TOWN and 
shall reimburse the Town for damages of containers under this agreement, if the Transfer Station Manager or Select Board 
determines, in their sole discretion, that such damage could reasonably have been avoided by the CONTRACTOR. 

CONTRACTOR shall provide the TOWN a minimum of three rental containers and additional containers upon 
request. All rental containers will be thirty (30)-yard open top, roll-off containers to be used for scrap metal, wood and 
furniture debris.  

VIII. EQUIPMENT PROVIDED BY THE TOWN

The TOWN shall provide one (1) forty-five (45) cubic yard container to be utilized in a “box swap”
DRAFT



Page 4 of 6 

IX. CONTRACT PRICE

The TOWN shall pay to the CONTRACTOR $________ (_____) for each “box swap”, including transport of
container contents completed by the CONTRACTOR and $________(____) per container rental per month. 

The CONTRACTOR  shall pay the Town $_____________per ton for metal hauling at the time material is 
received from the Lyman Transfer Station. Prices may fluctuate due to increases and decreases in the metal market. 
CONTRACTOR will notify the TOWN of any price change when it occurs and guarantee that the price will never go 
below $_________ per ton. The TOWN shall pay to the CONTRACTOR $_______(____) for transportation of metal 
disposal container contents and $_____(___) per month for container rental.  

The TOWN shall pay to the CONTRACTOR any fuel surcharge amounts of $_____per mile in the event fuel 
prices exceed $______ per gallon.  

X. PAYMENT

CONTRACTOR shall submit to the TOWN an invoice for services performed within fifteen (15) days after the
last day of the month for which the invoice is due. Signed weight sheets shall be included with the invoice. The TOWN 
shall remit payment within thirty (30) days of its receipt of invoice.  

Payment from the CONTRACTOR for metal disposal container contents shall be due to the TOWN within 
fifteen (15) days from the date of scrap metal pickup. When materials are transferred from the Lyman Transfer Station to 
the scrap metal vendor, the Lyman Transfer Station Weigh Attendant and the CONTRACTOR shall each sign the weight 
sheets. The weight sheets shall be submitted by the CONTRACTOR with payment to the TOWN.  

XI. ASSIGNMENT

Neither party to the contact shall assign the Agreement without the written consent of the other. CONTRACTOR

shall not assign any monies due or to become due to it hereunder without the previous written consent of the TOWN. 

XII. DISPUTES

Except as otherwise agreed by the parties in writing, all disputes, claims, counterclaims, and other matters in
question between CONTRACTOR and TOWN arising out of or relating to the Agreement shall be decided by a Maine 
court of competent jurisdiction. This Agreement is made and shall be construed under the laws of the State of Maine. 
Except as otherwise expressly agreed by the parties exclusive venue for any such civil action shall be in York County, 
Maine 

XIII. TERMINATION

Either party may terminate this contract without cause upon ninety (90) days prior written notice to the other
party. In the event of such termination, TOWN shall pay CONTRACTOR for all work satisfactorily performed prior to 
the actual termination. Furthermore, if the CONTRACTOR fails to perform according to the terms of this contract at the 
time and in the manner specified, TOWN shall have all legal and equitable remedies including termination for cause 
effective immediately upon written notice to CONTRACTOR. The CONTRACTOR will be paid for all work which is 
satisfactorily done by that time and the TOWN shall have no obligation or liability to the CONTRACTOR for any 
remaining balance or compensation under the contract.  DRAFT



Page 5 of 6 

XIV. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for compliance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws and
regulations, and any applicable amendments thereto. 

XV. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: AMENDMENTS

This Agreement and its Exhibits represent and contain the entire agreement between the parties. Any amendments
to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be signed by each part hereto. 

XVI. NON-WAIVER

Failure of a party to this Agreement to enforce a provision of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the
right to enforce any subsequent breach of that provision or any other provision of the Agreement. 

XVII. NOTICES

Any notices required under the terms of this Agreement shall be sent via United States mail, postage pre-paid,
first class, return receipt requested, to the following: 

TOWN: Lyman Select Board 

Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 

CONTRACTOR: 

DRAFT



Page 6 of 6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said INHABITANTS OF THE TOWN OF LYMAN has caused this 
agreement to be signed and sealed by its Select Board hereunto duly authorized, and ____________________ 
has caused this Agreement to be signed and sealed by ____________________________hereunto duly 
authorized, the day and date first above written.  

_________________________________ 
Ralph Blackington, Chair 

_________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch, Vice Chair 

_________________________________ 
Jessica Picard 

_________________________________ 
Victoria Gavel 

_________________________________ 
Amber Swett 

_________________________________ 
Date 

________________________________ ________________________________ 
Contractor -   Witness 

________________________________ ________________________________ 
Position  Date 

DRAFT



RFP Aerial Imagery Services 

Open Sealed Bids 2-5-2024 

Awarded Bid - TBD 

RFP’s received 

1. Eagle View

Submitted 2-2-2024

John Gannon

25 Methodist Hill Dr.

Rochester, NY 14623

(607)-742-8159

John.gannon@easgleview.com

www.eagleview.com

Year 1 (2024 – 2025) $12,804 

Year 2 (2025 – 2026) $12,804 

Year 3 (2026 – 2027) $12,804 

Additional Fees/ Services 

Change Finder  $0.43/parcel 

Sketch Inspect  $1.30/parcel 

2. TCB Drones, LLC

Submitted 2-2-2024

Stephanie Rivers

3824 Cedar Springs Rd #746

Dallas, TX 75219

(214)-702-2559

info@TCBDrones.com

tcbdrones.com

Year 1 (2024 – 2025) $97,916.40 

Year 2 (2025 – 2026) $108.708.07 

Year 3 (2026 – 2027) $119,676.40 

Additional Fees/ Services 

Disaster Response Program $775 / hours/person (drone included) 

See public Hearing Notice for copies of Bids Submitted
ITEM #1: (a.)

ITEM #5: (b.) RFP - Aerial Services

mailto:John.gannon@easgleview.com
http://www.eagleview.com/
mailto:info@TCBDrones.com
mailto:mgervais@ecmaine.com


____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  1 | 4 

TOWN OF LYMAN 

Select Board 

Code of Conduct 

1. Purpose

This Code of Conduct is designed to describe the manner in which Select Board members
should treat one another, Town employees, appointees, constituents, and others they come into
contact with in representing the Town of Lyman.  It reflects the work of the Lyman Select
Board with defining more clearly the behavior, manners, rules of order, and courtesies that are
suitable for various occasions. All members of the Select Board have equal votes, and all
should be treated with equal respect. Board members shall demonstrate civility and respect at
all times and shall not use their elected position for personal gain, for that of themselves or
others, or for any conduct of a self-serving nature. The Select Board serve in their capacity as
representatives of Lyman and shall endeavor to work for the benefit of the citizens and of the
Town.

2. Board Meetings

Board Meetings will be held at the Town Hall unless otherwise designated by the Chair or
Vice Chair. A suitable alternative location that meets the needs of public attendance will be
designated as needed. All meetings are open to the public, except under such provisions of
executive session Title 1 M.R.S.A §405 et seq.

Presiding Officer: The Chair shall be the presiding officer during Board meetings. In the
absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair shall be the presiding officer. In the absence of the Chair
and Vice Chair, the next senior Board member shall preside. For the purpose of this section, a
senior Board member shall be defined as a Board member currently serving the longest,
consecutive term of all other Board members present.

Agendas: will be prepared by the Town Manager and approved by the Chair or Vice Chair
before being posted. All reports, communications, resolutions, documents or other matters to
be submitted to the Board shall be delivered to the Town Manager’s Office by Thursday
before noon prior to the regular meeting for consideration at that meeting and following the
approval of the Chair or Vice Chair. In matters of extenuating circumstances, where items
not on the agenda are brought to the Board, then the Board shall have discretion by a
majority vote to consider the item and the reason for the extenuation shall be recorded and
documented in the minutes. No votes or decisions shall be taken on any items or topics not
on the agenda and such items shall be tabled and placed on the next agenda for continued
consideration.

DRAFT
ITEM #5: (d.) Chain of Communication/ Code of Conduct



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  2 | 4 

Executive Sessions: The Board may only enter into executive session by a majority (3/5) 
vote of the Board. No orders, rules, resolutions, regulations, contacts, appointments, or other 
official action shall be finally approved during executive sessions. Any discussion of matters 
in executive session shall not be shared outside of the executive session. 

3. Conduct of Public Meetings

Decorum and Order: All comments and questions shall be directed to the Chair or 
otherwise presiding officer of the meeting. A public member who wishes to address the 
board may do so during public comment or if called upon by the Chair or presiding officer. 

The Chair or presiding officer has the right to prohibit public comment that is disorderly, 
inappropriate, offensive, disruptive, or threatening in any way. Any Select Board member has 
the right to call a point of order requesting the Chair or presiding officer to take corrective 
action of any disorderly conduct. Side conversations, whispering, or other distractions should 
be addressed by the Chair or presiding officer, to maintain order and limit disruptions.  

Any persons who disrupt a Board meeting may be required to leave in order to permit orderly 
consideration of the matter for which the meeting was called. If the Chair or presiding officer 
requests any persons to leave and they do not do so, any member of the Board may call for an 
adjournment. In the event of an early adjournment, all remaining items not addressed will be 
tabled to the next meeting unless the Chair determines to hold an additional meeting sooner.  

Matters pertaining to the day-to-today operations of the Town, that is not specifically on the 
agenda, should be redirected to the Town Manager. This is to help aid residents or any 
interested party in obtaining information being requested and limit time constraints on Board 
meetings.  

Practice Civility and Professionalism in Discussions and Debate: Select Board members 
shall prepare themselves for public issues; listen courteously and attentively to all public 
discussions before the body; and focus on the business at hand. They shall refrain from 
interrupting other speakers, making personal comments not germane to the business of the 
body, or otherwise interfering with the orderly conduct of meetings. They shall demonstrate 
effective problem-solving approaches to find common ground and seek compromise when 
disparate points of view are expressed. 

Confidentiality of Executive Sessions: Select Board members must take care to preserve the 
confidentiality of information received or discussed in duly-called executive sessions. 
Information received or discussed in a duly-called executive session shall not be discussed 
with or communicated to members of the public, the press, or other persons (except Town 
employee(s) as needed in connection with the item concerned), unless disclosure is approved 
by a majority of the Select Board and is not prohibited by applicable Maine or federal law; or 
as may be required by court order, subpoena, or litigation discovery request. DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  3 | 4 

4. Select Board Conduct with Town Employees

Developing Effective Working Relationships: Firsthand information obtained from random 
and carefully planned observation of Town activities can be useful in providing proper 
oversight of the Town’s activities and responsibilities. However, too frequent involvement in 
Town administrative activities or overzealous pursuit of information can undermine the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the Town Manager and other properly appointed department 
heads and supervisors. Therefore, Select Board members shall not stop, disrupt or unduly 
preoccupy any Town employee in the proper conduct of their activities, nor shall Select 
Board members excessively occupy any Town employee’s personal working space such that 
their presence interferes with the proper and efficient conduct of their duties.  

The Board subscribes to the concept that effective working relationships between Board 
members and the Town Manager are based on a clear understanding of respective roles, 
responsibilities and an appreciation for the value of constructively working through 
differences. Both the Board and the Manager should additionally embrace the goal of 
working together as associates with a common purpose without stifling independent thinking. 

To that end, Select Board members should adhere to the following: 

o Treat all employees with mutual respect, demonstrate clear and honest
communication, and promote professionalism among the workplace.

o Limit contact to specific personnel. Requests for follow-up or directions to employees
should be made only through the Town Manager. When in doubt about what
employee follow-up or directions are appropriate, Select Board members should ask
the Town Manager for direction.

o Do not disrupt Town employees from their jobs. Select Board members should not
disrupt Town employees while they are in meetings, on the phone, or when
performing their respective functions in order to meet the needs of an individual
Select Board member.

o Never publicly criticize a Town employee. Critical comments about an employee’s
performance should be made only to the Town Manager and in confidentiality.

o Demonstrate the same mutual respect and limited interference, as outlined for
employees, for Volunteers serving on boards, committees, and commissions.

5. Select Board Conduct with the Public

Make no promises on behalf of the Select Board or the Town: Select Board members may 
be broached on topics or issues pertaining to Town Business as they meet and talk with 
constituents in the community. It is appropriate to give a brief overview of Town policy and 
to refer to the Town Manager for further information. It is inappropriate to overtly or 
implicitly promise Select Board action, or to promise Town employees will take specific 
action.  

Potential Access of Written Notes, Voicemail/Text Messages, and e-mail: Freedom of 
Access laws describe public access to Town communications; written, voice, or electronic 
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  4 | 4 

communication. Any Select Board members’ communications should recognize potential 
access and evaluate communication with an exception of pubic dialog.  

It is important Select Board members know that any written, electronic or digital 
communication pertaining to Town business is public record under Maine law, if the 
communication is one that is stored in a retrievable form, regardless of the device used to 
send, receive or store the communication. Furthermore, all Select Board members are 
expected to adhere to all rules governing in accordance with the Maine State Archives Local 
Government Record Retention Schedules.  

6. Response to Violations of Select Board Code of Conduct

Select Board members who intentionally and repeatedly do not follow proper conduct may
be reprimanded or formally censured by the Select Board.  Serious infractions of the Code of
Conduct could lead to other sanctions as deemed appropriate by the Select Board. Board
members should point out to the offending Select Board member infractions of the Code of
Conduct.

7. Amendment

These rules may be amended by a majority vote of the Board. An amendment must be
submitted in writing at a preceding meeting and shall be placed on the next agenda under the
order of new business.

This Select Board Code of Conduct was adopted by a majority of the Lyman Select Board on this ___day 
of _________, 2024  

Adopted: 

Amended: 

______________________________________Ralph “Rusty” Blackington - Chair 

______________________________________Thomas Hatch – Vice Chair 

______________________________________Jessica Picard 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

DRAFT



Bunganut Booth Repairs 

In the Fall the Booth at Bunganut Park was vandalized. 

Insurance will cover the cost of repairs for $4,393.59 with the Town paying a 

deductible of $1,000. The cost of the deductible can come out of either account 

listed below: 

Capital improvement Reserve Balance = $116,305 

Contingency Balance = $2,500 

Unless the Board would rather replace the booth entirely, insurance will not cover 

this expense. If the board chooses this route, funds would need to come from 

Capital Improvement.  

2/5/24 : Discussion at Select Board meeting - Bunganut Park Committee was looking into 
getting something donated. It's possible to do a variance appeal if replacing the booth. No 
new updates at this time. 

ITEM #5: (e.) Bunganut Booth Repairs

mnikel
Highlight

mnikel
Highlight



TOWN OF LYMAN

Employee Personnel 

Policy Handbook

DRAFT
ITEM #5: (f.) Draft Personnel Policy



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TOWN OF LYMAN 

Employee Personnel Policy Handbook 

Table of Contents 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 

1.1: Introduction and Purpose .......................................................................................... 1 
1.2: Mission Statement ........................................................................................................ 1 

1.2: Municipal Code of Ethics ............................................................................................. 2 

SECTION 2: EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT & INCLUSIVITY 

2.1: Equal Opportunity Employment .............................................................................. 2 

2:2: American’s with Disabilities Act ............................................................................. 3 

2.3: Pregnancy Worker’s Fairness Act ............................................................................ 3 

2.4: Process for sections 2.2 and 2.3................................................................................ 3 

2.5: Religious Accommodations ...................................................................................... 4 

2.6: Immigration Law Compliance .................................................................................. 5 

SECTION 3: NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT 

3.1: Non-Bullying Policy ................................................................................................. 5 

3.2: Harassment and Sexual Harassment ........................................................................ 6 

3.3: Unlawful Discrimination  ......................................................................................... 8 

3.4: Workplace Threats and Violence ............................................................................. 8 

3.5: Complaint Procedure ................................................................................................. 9 

3.6: Whistle Blower’s Protection Policy and Anti-Retaliation .................................... 10 

SECTION 4: RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT 

4.1: Recruitment Process ................................................................................................ 10 

4.2: Nepotism and Workplace Romance ....................................................................... 11 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

4.3: Employee Classification ......................................................................................... 12 

4.4: Job Descriptions ...................................................................................................... 14 

4.5: New Employee Onboarding ................................................................................... 15 

4.6: Probation .................................................................................................................. 15 

4.7: Promotion................................................................................................................. 16 

4.8: Performance Evaluation .......................................................................................... 16 

4.9: Training .................................................................................................................... 17 

4.10: Compensation ........................................................................................................ 17 

4.11: Personnel File ........................................................................................................ 18 

4.12: Resignation ............................................................................................................ 19 

4.13: Layoffs ................................................................................................................... 19 

SECTION 5: DISCIPLINE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION  

5.1: Discipline ................................................................................................................. 19 

5.2: Grievance Procedure ............................................................................................... 21 

SECTION 6: WORKPLACE GUIDELINES 

6.1: Employee Conduct and Public Relations............................................................... 23 

6.2: Professional Appearance ......................................................................................... 24 

6.3: Attendance and Punctuality .................................................................................... 25 

6.4: Confidentiality ......................................................................................................... 25 

6.5: Outside Employment ............................................................................................... 25 

6.6: Political Activity...................................................................................................... 25 

6.7: Conflict of Interest .................................................................................................. 26 

6.8: Solicitation ............................................................................................................... 27 

6.9: Town Equipment and Materials ............................................................................. 27 

6.10: Cell Phone Use ...................................................................................................... 28 

6.11: Workplace Safety .................................................................................................. 29 

6.12: Social Media Use .................................................................................................. 29 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

6.13: Technology – Acceptable Use Policy .................................................................. 29 

6.14: Purchasing Policy .................................................................................................. 29 

6.15: Inclement Weather and Emergency Closings...................................................... 30 

6.16: Drug and Alcohol Policy ...................................................................................... 30 

6.17: Smoking ................................................................................................................. 31 

SECTION 7: PAYROLL AND WORK SCHEDULES 

7.1: Payroll ...................................................................................................................... 31 

7.2: Time Cards and Time Clock ................................................................................... 32 

7.3: Discretionary Time Off for Exempt Employees ................................................... 32 

7.4: Temporary Telecommuting (Remote) Policy ........................................................ 32 

7.5: Pay at Separation ..................................................................................................... 34 

SECTION 8: BENEFITS 

8.1: Health and Life Insurance ....................................................................................... 35 

8.2: Dental and Vision Insurance................................................................................... 36 

8.3: Income Protection Plan (IPP) ................................................................................. 36 

8.4: Retirement ................................................................................................................ 36 

8.5: Open Enrollment  .................................................................................................... 37 

8.6: Worker’s Compensation ......................................................................................... 37 

8.7: Unemployment ........................................................................................................ 38 

8.8: Holidays ................................................................................................................... 38 

8.9: Paid Time Off (PTO) .............................................................................................. 38 

8.10: Employee Recognition Program .......................................................................... 40 

SECTION 9: EMPLOYEE LEAVE 

9.1: Personal days ........................................................................................................... 40 

9.2: Earned Paid Leave (EPL) ....................................................................................... 40 

9.3: Extended Sick Leave ............................................................................................... 41 

9.4: Leave for Victims of Domestic Abuse ................................................................... 42 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

9.5: Military Leave ......................................................................................................... 42 

9.6: Family Medical Leave ............................................................................................ 44 

9.7: Maine Family Medical Leave ................................................................................. 46 

9.8: Parental Leave ......................................................................................................... 46 

9.9: Bereavement ............................................................................................................ 47 

9.10: Jury Duty................................................................................................................ 47 

9.11: Life Threatening Illness ........................................................................................ 48 

9.12: Absent Without Leave .......................................................................................... 48 

SECTION 10: REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES 

10.1: Mileage Compensation Policy .............................................................................. 48 

10.2: Meals, Lodging, and Other Travel Expenses ...................................................... 49 

10.3: Parking Fees and Tolls .......................................................................................... 49 

10.4: Reimbursement Procedure .................................................................................... 50 

SECTION 11: MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1: Freedom of Access Act Policy ............................................................................. 50 

11.2: Severability ............................................................................................................ 50 

11.3: Amendment ........................................................................................................... 51 

11.4: Definitions ............................................................................................................. 51 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 1 

SECTION 1: 

 INTRODUCTION

1.1: Introduction and Purpose 

Starting a new job is exciting, but at times can be overwhelming. This Personnel Policies and 
Procedures Handbook has been developed to help you get acquainted and answer many of your 
initial questions.  

As an employee of the Town of Lyman, the importance of your contribution cannot be 
overstated. Our goal is to provide residents with the finest and most efficient service possible. 
You are an integral part of this process.  

This Employee Personnel Policy Handbook is a resource to help you understand our 
organizational needs and expectations. Our business make up is service and we will strive to 
ensure we continue to provide citizens of Lyman with excellent services in the most efficient and 
effective manner possible. For this reason, it is important all persons conducting business on 
behalf of the Town, whether of an employee, board, committee, or volunteer status are expected 
to adhere to all Town policies and procedures.  

This handbook includes policies and procedures for employee hiring and advancement, fringe 
benefits, retirement, employee leave policies, discipline and grievance processes, performance 
management, and other related policies. The policies in this handbook apply to all employees. 
These policies and procedures are not intended to and do not constitute a binding employment 
contract with any individual or group of employees. These policies and procedures are developed 
to provide reasonable assurances that all rights and benefits of employees and applicants for 
employment are protected and respected.  

The rules, regulations, policies, and procedures in this handbook constitute the Town’s Personnel 
Policy Handbook and they have been adopted for information and guidance and for use by the 
Town of Lyman Select Board, Town Manager (or Designee), Supervisor/Department Head, and 
Employees of the Town. The Town Manger (or Designee) is responsible for the administration 
of the provisions of this handbook and has the authority to take appropriate action in dealing with 
cases of violations of it.  

In implementing this handbook, the Supervisor/Department Head of the Elements of Town 
Government, with approval of the Town Manager (or Designee), are authorized to generate and 
implement departmental rules and regulations supplemental to the policies in this manual. Such 
rules and regulations bear the same authority as the policies in this handbook.  

1.2: Mission Statement 

The Town of Lyman partners with our community members to deliver superior services in the 
most effectual manner possible. We respect members of the public, each other, and treat all with 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 2 

courtesy and dignity. We rely on teamwork to provide a seamless experience for all customers. 
We uphold high standards in our personal, professional, and organizational conduct. We 
continuously strive to meet the needs of our residents through available resources by being 
flexible and promoting the use of innovation. We accept responsibility for our personal and 
organizational decisions and actions. We openly communicate with the public and each other by 
sharing information.  

Our Expectations of Excellent Services 

• Listening to your customers and team members
• Timeliness
• Effective communications
• Taking ownership
• Creating a positive, helpful, friendly environment
• Teamwork
• Going above and beyond to help customer with their needs

1.3: Municipal Code of Ethics 

The Municipal Code of Ethics applies to all Town officials whether elected, appointed, 
volunteering, or an employee of the Town. It is the responsibility of all employees to review and 
become familiar with the ethics policy and abide by it. Refer to policy labelled “Municipal Code 
of Ethics”. 

SECTION 2:  
EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT & INCLUSIVITY 

2.1: Equal Opportunity Employment 

The Town is committed to a policy of equal employment opportunity to all persons based on 
individual merit, competence, and need. As an Equal Opportunity Employer, the Town of Lyman 
shall employ, upgrade, and promote the best qualified candidates who fit the mission statement 
of the Town and who are available at the salary level established for the position, without 
discrimination as to race, religion, age, sex, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation 
(including gender identity and expression), national origin or ancestry, marital status, genetic 
information, protected veteran or military status, color, pregnancy, familial status, political 
affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any other status protected by law.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 3 

This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment including hiring, placement, 
promotion, termination, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, compensation, benefits, and 
training.  

2.2: Americans With Disabilities Act 

The Town is committed to complying with all applicable provisions of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, and RSA 354-A. It is the Town’s policy not to 
discriminate against any qualified employee or applicant with regard to any terms or conditions 
of employment because of such individual’s disability or perceived disability so long as the 
employee can perform the essential functions of the job.  

Consistent with this policy of nondiscrimination, the Town will provide reasonable 
accommodations to a qualified individual with a disability, as defined by the ADA, who has 
made the Town aware of his or her disability, provided that such accommodation does not 
constitute an undue hardship on the Town.  

The Town encourages individuals with disabilities to come forward and request reasonable 
accommodation. Employees with a disability who believe they need reasonable accommodation 
to perform the essential functions of their job should notify their Supervisor/ Department Head 
and Town Manager (or designee) as outlined in 2.4 of this section. The Town will maintain all 
medical information in a confidential manner in accordance with the ADA.  

2.3: Pregnancy Worker’s Fairness Act 

The Town does not discriminate based on pregnancy or related conditions, including lactation 
and the need to express breast milk for a nursing child, unless the discrimination is based on a 
bona fide occupational qualification. The Town also does not discriminate based on sex, which 
can include pregnancy, childbirth, and the need for maternity leave, unless discrimination is 
based on a bona fide occupational qualification.   

2.4: Process for Sections 2.2 and 2.3 

Employees who have mental or physical disabilities, or pregnancy related medical conditions 
which may impact their ability to perform the essential functions of their job, shall notify their 
Supervisor/Department Head and the Town Manager (or Designee) to request an 
accommodation. Once a request has been made, the employee, Supervisor/Department Head and 
Town Manager (or Designee) will begin the following steps: 

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) meet to
discuss potential accommodation.

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee)

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 4 

review the essential functions of the job. It may be necessary to provide a job 
description or list of essential functions to the employee’s medical provider to confirm 
the disability and the need for the accommodation. 

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) will
review options for potential accommodation and will work together to come up with
ideas that are reasonable and that do not create an undue hardship for the employer
(Town).

• In the event that a reasonable accommodation is determined, it will be documented
and placed in the employee’s medical file.

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) will
continue to monitor the need for the accommodation to ensure there are not any issues
or concerns by either party.

• If the employee rejects the proposed accommodation, the employee may appeal
following the Town’s grievance policy and procedure.

Any individual with a disability who believes he or she have been subject to 
discrimination based on disability may discuss the complaint with the Town Manager (or 
Designee). It is unlawful for the Town, its employees, contractors, or grantees to retaliate 
against anyone who files a grievance or cooperates in the investigation of a grievance. 

2.5: Religious Accommodations 

The Town of Lyman respects the religious beliefs and practices of all employees and will make, 
on request, accommodation for such observances when a reasonable accommodation is available 
that does not create undue hardship for the Town.  

An employee whose religious beliefs or practices conflicts with their job, work schedule, or other 
aspects of employment, and who seeks a religious accommodation must submit a written request 
for the accommodation to their immediate Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or 
Designee). The written request will include the type of religious conflict that exists and the 
employee’s recommendation of accommodation.  

The Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (Or Designee) will review the request and 
consider whether a conflict exists due to a sincerely held religious belief or practice and whether 
an accommodation is available that is reasonable and that would not create an undue hardship on 
the Town.  

The Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) will meet with the employee 
and discuss the merits of the accommodation and conclusion of a decision. If the employee 
accepts the proposed religious accommodation, the Supervisor/ Department Head and Town 
Manager (or Designee) will implement the decision agreed upon. If the employee rejects the 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 5 

proposed accommodation, the employee may appeal following the Town’s grievance policy and 
procedure.  

2.6: Immigration Law Compliance 

The Town only employs United States citizens and Non United States citizens authorized to 
work in the United States. In compliance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1968, 
it is against Town policy to discriminate in any aspect of employment of a person authorized to 
work in the United Staes based on the person’s national origin, citizenship, or intent to become a 
U.S. citizen. In accordance with federal law, every prospective employee is required to provide 
to sign a verification attesting that he or she is legally employable in the United States. The 
Town retains copies of these documents submitted/signed by an employee. To the extent 
practical and appropriate, these documents will be kept confidential. However, on request, the 
Town is required to provide copies of these documents to the U.S Department of Labor and to 
the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS). 

Providing false documentation or making any false statement related to this verification shall be 
grounds for immediate discharge. And, if during the course of employment, the Town requests 
further information relating to an employee’s authorization to work in the United Staes, the 
employee must furnish the information requested. Failure to cooperate in providing such 
information shall be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination.  

SECTION 3:  

NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT

3.1: Non-Bullying Policy 

The purpose of this policy is to communicate to all employees, including elected officials, that 
the Town will not tolerate any instance of bullying behavior. Employees found in violation of 
this policy will be disciplined up to and including termination.  

The Town defines bullying as repeated inappropriate behavior, either verbal, physical, or 
otherwise, conducted by one or more persons against another or others at the place of work or in 
the course of employment. The Town will not tolerate bullying behavior. Employees have the 
right not to be bullied, harassed, or victimized and have the right to work in a safe environment 
free from hostility.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 6 

Examples of bullying include the following types of behavior: 

Physical Bullying: Pushing, shoving, hitting, poking, tripping, assault or threat of physical 
assault; damage to a person’s work area or property. 

Verbal Bullying: Making abusive or offensive remarks; persistent name calling that is hurtful, 
insulting, or humiliating; making defamatory statements, slandering, ridiculing, or maligning a 
person or the persons family; using the person as the butt of a joke.  

Gesture Bullying: Non-verbal threatening body language or gestures; glances that convey 
threatening message.  

Exclusion: Socially or physically excluding or disregarding a person in work-related activities. 

Additionally, the following examples may constitute or contribute to evidence of bullying in the 
workplace: 

• Shouting or raising voice at an individual in public or in private.
• Making threats of harm or intimidation whether verbal, non-verbal, or in writing.
• Persistent singling out of an individual
• Spreading rumor and gossip regarding individuals.
• Making verbal remarks or obscene gestures.
• Public humiliation in any form.
• Constant criticism of matters unrelated or minimally related to the person’s job

performance or job description.
• Blocking, cornering, or crowding a person to cause intimidation.
• Personal insults and use of offensive slander.
• Ignoring or interrupting an individual in meetings
• Public reprimands
• Encouraging others to disregard a supervisor’s or designee’s instructions.

Bullying is NOT: Expressing differences of opinions; offering constructive feedback, guidance, 
or advice about work-related behavior; or reasonable action taken by an employer or supervisor 
relating to the management and direction of employees or place of employment (i.e. managing an 
employee’s performance, taking reasonable disciplinary actions, assigning work). 

3.2: Harassment and Sexual Harassment 

The Town of Lyman is committed to maintaining a work environment free from all forms of 
harassment and intimidation. Harassment is prohibited in connection with any employee activity 
including, but not limited to, relations with other employees, supervisors, prospective employees, 
clients, vendors, elected officials, appointees, or members of the public. Reports of harassment 
will be promptly investigated. Employees found in violation of this policy will be disciplined up 
to and including termination. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 7 

The Town expects that all relationships among persons in the work environment will be 
professional and conduct themselves in a business-like manner. The Town strictly prohibits and 
does not tolerate any type of harassment, sexual, or otherwise in the form of unwelcomed or 
unwarranted verbal, physical, or visual conduct of its employees based on the protected 
characteristics of race, religion, age, sex, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation 
(including gender identity and expression), national origin, genetic pre-disposition, color, 
political affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any other status protected by law.  

Definitions of Sexual Harassment 

Sexual Harassment: Unwelcomed and inappropriate sexual remarks, gestures, visual displays, or 
physical advances in the workplace or other professional situation.  

Quid Pro Quo: Harassment that occurs when submission or rejection of such conduct is used as 
the basis for employment decisions affecting an individual, such as promotions in exchange for 
sexual favors, or an unfavorable change of duties in response to rejected sexual advances.  

Hostile Work Environment: Unwelcomed sexual conduct which creates an intimidating, hostile, 
or offensive work environment, or interferes with an individual’s work performance. Conduct 
which is not sexual in nature may still create a sexually hostile work environment if it is based on 
the victim’s gender. Such instances may include physical or verbal abuse based on gender, 
exclusion or isolation of the individual, or tampering with belongings.  

Definitions of Harassment 

Behavior which is offensive and intrusive creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, or 
humiliating environment towards an individual because of their race, religion, age, sex, color, 
gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, national origin, disability, marital status, 
citizenship, genetic information, or any other characteristic protected by law.  

Sexual and other types of harassment may take many forms. Such forms may include, but are not 
limited to: 

• Unwelcome sexual advances, gestures, comments, or contact.
• Offensive material including sexually explicit cartoons, pictures, drawings, videos,

objects, or other communications including email, internet programs, blogs, or websites.
• Offensive or sexual jokes.
• Pinchin, grabbing, sexual assault, or any physical contact of a sexual nature.
• Threats.
• Subjecting employees to ridicule, slurs, or derogatory actions.
• Basing employment decisions or practices on submission to such harassment
• Deliberate blocking of a person’s path
• Non-verbal sexual behavior, such as staring or leering at a person’s body.
• Use of derogatory stereotypes.
• Refusal to cooperate with employees in performing work-related tasks.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 8 

Unwelcome harassment of any kind need not occur in the workplace to be unlawful if the 
harassment activity creates a hostile or offensive work environment, the activity may constitute 
actionable harassment regardless of where it occurs.  

3.3: Unlawful Discrimination 

The Civil Rights Act of 1964 prevents discrimination in the workplace. Any discrimination 
based on a protected class is illegal with regard to race, religion, national, social, or ethnic 
origins, sex (including pregnancy). Age (over 400, physical, mental, or sensory disability. Sexual 
orientation, gender identity or expression, marital status, past or present military service, genetic 
information, familial status, whistleblower activity, and any other status protected by state and 
federal law. All such complaints will be addressed and if necessary, appropriate action will be 
taken.  

Employees should report any discrimination immediately to their Supervisor/Department Head 
and Town Manager (or Designee) and are protected from retaliation in any form. All complaints 
of retaliation will be investigated promptly, and remedial action will be taken.  

3.4: Workplace Threats and Violence 

It is vitally important to the Town to protect the safety and security of employees and the public 
who conduct business in municipal buildings/facilities. Any threats, threatening behavior, or acts 
of violence against employees, visitors, guests, or other individuals by anyone on Town property 
will not be tolerated. Violations of this policy will lead to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination, and if otherwise necessary, arrest and/or prosecution.  

Any person who makes substantial threats, exhibits threatening behavior, or engages in violent 
acts on Town Property shall be requested to leave immediately, and if warranted removed by law 
enforcement. The Town will investigate reported incidents and initiate an appropriate response, 
which may include, but is not limited to, suspension and/or termination of employment, and/or 
criminal prosecution of the person or persons involved.  

No existing Town policy, practice, or procedure should be interpreted to prohibit decisions 
designed to prevent a threat from being carried out, a violent act from occurring, or a life-
threatening situation from developing.  

Employees are responsible for making a report regardless of the relationship between the 
individual who initiated the threat or threatening behavior. Even without an actual threat any 
behavior an employee has witnessed that they regard is job related or may be carried out on 
Town-owned property or is connected to Town employment should be reported. Employees shall 
file a report of the incident as soon they are reasonably able to and direct reports to the Town 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 9 

Manger (or Designee). Reports shall include specific details of an event to be investigated. The 
report shall include such information as: 

• Name of the individual making the threat or engaging in violent acts
• Relationship to organization and/or recipient
• Name of other persons involved including witnesses and victims.
• A brief description of the event including antecedents leading up to the incident.
• Any specific threats or language and/or physical acts of the incident

The Town of Lyman recognizes the sensitivity of the information and will exercise all 
procedures in a confidential manner and respect the privacy of reporting employees and any 
victims involved.  

3.5: Complaint Procedure 

The Town of Lyman respects employees’ rights to a safe and professional work environment. An 
employee, whether being the recipient of bullying, harassment, sexual harassment, or 
discrimination, is witness to, or otherwise becomes aware of such misconduct that is prohibited 
by this policy is encouraged to file a report.  

Internal complaints may be filed by contacting the Supervisor/Department Head and Town 
Manager (or Designee). It is the responsibility of the Town Manager (or Designee) to respond to 
complaints promptly, evaluate appropriate corrective action, and maintain confidentiality of all 
parties involved. Corrective action is required regardless of whether a complaint is made, or the 
conduct appears to be unwelcome. Even if the person providing information requests that no 
action be taken, the Town Manager (or Designee) must engage to actively prevent or stop 
inappropriate, unprofessional conduct in the workplace. 

The Town will not tolerate discrimination, bullying, or harassment of any kind. Every effort will 
be made to resolve the complaint at the lowest level possible. If an investigation is warranted, it 
will be conducted promptly and with confidentiality, respecting the rights of the parties involved. 
All employees are required to cooperate fully in any investigation of alleged discrimination, 
bullying or harassment. Any report of alleged misconduct that is made in a knowingly false or 
frivolous manner is prohibited, will not be tolerated, and will be appropriately addressed should 
it occur, including possible disciplinary action.  

If an employee believes they are being harassed or discriminated against, they have the right to 
file a complaint with the Human Rights Commission (MHRC) within six months of the unlawful 
act or unlawful discrimination. To file a charge or obtain more information on the procedure, 
contact the Commission at (207)-624-6290 or by mail at: Human Rights Commission 51 State 
Street Augusta, ME 04333-0051 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 10 

3.6: Whistle Blower’s Protection Policy and Anti-Retaliation 

The Town of Lyman encourages its employees to report illegal, unethical or violation of Town 
policies and procedures by municipal officers, or employees and protects Town employees who 
report improper government actions. Any employee who is aware of a violation of the law, or 
condition or practice that risks any person’s health and/or safety, is required to immediately 
report the circumstances to the Town Manager (or Designee). Employees must provide 
information about the issue and allow a reasonable time for it to be corrected. The employee will 
be requested to provide a detailed report in writing. The Town Manager (or Designee) will 
investigate the report promptly and act in a timely manner to take any necessary remedial action. 
Employees who report any violations are protected from retaliation from all other employes and 
supervisors. Violations of this policy may result in appropriate disciplinary action up to and 
including termination.  

SECTION 4:  

RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT

4.1: Recruitment Process 

It is the Town Manager’s (or Designee) duty to hire and appoint all employees of the Town 
pursuant to Section 4.3 of the Municipal Charter. The Town Manger’s office coordinates and 
oversees the recruitment, interview, and selection process. Within the limits of time in which a 
position is filled, there shall be as wide a search for qualified candidates as is practicable. The 
character of this search will vary from position to position but shall consist of an internal posting 
in Town departments, and may include external advertising, open competitive examination, 
contact with State and other employment offices, contact with special sources of information, or 
any combination. It shall be the duty of the Town Manager (or Designee) to seek out the most 
qualified employees for the Town based on relative knowledge, skills, abilities, overall 
performance and ability to aptly suit the Town’s Mission Statement. It is the Town Manager’s 
(or Designee) duty to keep the Board apprised of all vacancies and the status of filling those 
vacancies.  

Municipal Officials may select deputies as authorized by State law, however, appointment of 
deputies must be approved by the Town Manager (Section 4.3 (c) of the Municipal Charter). 

The recruitment process of the Town Manager is the responsibility of the Select Board as 
outlined in Article 4.1 of the Municipal Charter. 

Employment Applications: All candidates are required to complete a Town of Lyman 
employment application regardless of whether supporting documentation is provided. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 11 

Applications for employment shall be submitted on forms provided by the Town. Applications 
are only accepted for positions in which a posted vacancy exists.  

Conditional Offer of Employment: The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) coordinates all 
conditional offers of employment. Conditional offers of employment are approved by the Town 
Manager (or Designee) and provided to the candidate in writing. The conditional offer of 
employment outlines the specific and applicable requirements, based on the nature of the job, 
which must be met in order for the person to be hired. Examples of conditions of hire may 
include the applicant’s ability to pass a criminal records check or any other lawful pre-
employment screenings. The cost of any conditions of employment is the responsibility of the 
Town.  

Offer of Employment: Upon satisfactory completion of all conditions of employment, a written 
offer of employment is extended. After the offer of employment is signed and returned, the 
Town Manager (or Designee) will coordinate the on-boarding process with the appropriate 
Supervisor/Department Head. 

The Town is committed to providing an equitable and competitive compensation package that 
will attract and retain well-qualified employees.  

4.2: Nepotism and Workplace Romance 

The Town of Lyman wants to ensure that employment practices do not create conflicts of interest 
or favoritism based on employment of relatives. This extends to practices that involve employee 
hiring, promotion, advancement, and transfer.  

The employment of relatives in an organization may present a perceived or actual conflict of 
interest such as favoritism, personal conflicts, and potential conflicts from outside the work 
environment that are carried into the workplace.  

For the purpose of this policy, a relative is defined as someone with whom there has been or is a 
significant personal relations, including, but not limited to, a spouse, domestic partner, cohabiter 
(romantic partner/significant other), parent, child, sibling, sibling in-law, parent in-law, 
grandparent, aunt, uncle, niece, or nephew who is related by blood, marriage, adoption or some 
other relationship, as further defined below: 

Blood Relative: Someone who is related to you by birth rather than marriage or another 
relationship.  

Spouse: A legally married person 

Domestic Partnership: Legal declaration per public law 2003, c.672. Two unmarried adults who 
are domiciled together under long-term arrangements that evidence a commitment to remain 
responsible indefinitely for each other’s welfare.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 12 

Cohabiter: To live together as if married, usually without legal sanction. 

This policy applies to all current employees and candidates for employment. 

To that end, 

• Relatives of those currently employed by the Town may be hired only if they will not be
working directly for or supervising a relative. Under circumstances where there may be a
conflict with this provision the Town Manager (or Designee) shall review such special
circumstances and may waive such provision on a temporary basis.

• Current employees may not be promoted, advanced, or transferred into a position where
they will be working directly for or supervising a relative.

• For the purpose of this section, a direct Supervisor/Department Head is defined as
overseeing the daily performance of the employee and has the authority to recommend or
exercise discipline, promotion, and rewards.

Workplace Romance 

To avoid actual or potential conflicts, sexual harassment, and other adverse impacts on the work 
environment that may result from romantic and/or physical relationships within the workplace, 
the Town prohibits Supervisor/Department Head employees from becoming romantically or 
physically involved with employees directly under their supervision. In the event a 
Supervisor/Department Head develops a personal relationship with a subordinate in the course of 
employment with the Town, those employees shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or 
designee) who will take further action as necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. 
Supervisor/Department Head employees who violate this policy may be subject to disciplinary 
action. In the event that coworkers, neither of whom are in a supervisory role with one another, 
develop a personal relationship in the course of employment with the Town, the employees shall 
immediately report to the Town Manager (or designee).  

4.3: Employee Classification 

The Fair Labor Standards Act requires the classification of all employees according to the 
overtime provisions of the law. For purposes of paying any compensation, all employees are 
either “Exempt” or “Non-Exempt” from overtime compensation. All determinations of wage 
classification status are made through the job evaluation process. The Town Manager (or 
designee) is responsible for classifying all employees.  

Exempt Employees: Are generally executives, managers, professionals, Department Heads, 
administrative or outside of sales staff who are exempt from minimum wage and overtime 
provisions of the FLSA. Exempt employees hold jobs that meet the standards and criteria 
established under the FLSA by the US Department of Labor. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 13 

Non-Exempt Employees: Are employees whose work is covered by the FLSA. They are not

exempt from the law’s requirement concerning minimum wage and overtime. 

Employee Classification: It is the intent of the town to clarify the definitions of employment 
classifications so that employees understand their employment status and benefits eligibility. 
These classifications do not guarantee employment for any specified period of time. 

Employees of the following classifications are subject to all personnel policy rules and 
regulations, except where specifically excluded. 

A. REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEE: A regular full-time position is year-round in
nature with no predetermined end date and scheduled to work no less than 32 hours
per week on a continuing and indefinite basis. The employee is eligible to receive all
employee benefits and rights as provided by this personnel policy.

B. REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: Regular part-time position is year-round in
nature with no predetermined end date and scheduled to work at least 20 hours per
week but less than 32 hours per week on a continuing and indefinite basis. An
employee in this category may work more than 30 hours per week sporadically for a
short duration under certain circumstances but may not work more than 130 hours in
a 4-week period. Regular part-time employees who work 20 or more hours per week
on a continual and indefinite basis are eligible to receive Earned Paid Leave (EPL),
the Town’s 457 (b) Retirement Plan per section 8.4, and paid holidays but only if the
holiday falls on a day that the employee is regularly scheduled to work.

C. VARIABLE HOUR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category does
not work a consistent schedule from week to week but is generally actively employed
on a year-round basis. The employee usually works under 20 hours per week but may
work over 20 hours per week sporadically and on occasion due to the nature of the
work. Variable hour part-time employees are not eligible for Town benefits except
those mandated by State or Federal law, nor do they accrue Paid Time Off (PTO), or
received holiday pay. An example of variable hour part-time employees are: Planning
Board members, Zoning Board of Appeals.

D. TEMPORARY SEASONAL EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category works a
standard work week or less on a regular basis but for a limited period of time, usually
not to exceed six months. Temporary employees are paid for hours worked and
receive no other benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law. Examples of
temporary seasonal employees are: Summer laborers and Summer Camp Counselors.

E. PER DIEM EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category works a variable and flexible
schedule. Work hours vary from week to week depending on the department’s needs
and the availability of the employee. An employee of this type is not eligible for

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 14 

Town benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law. Examples of per diem 
employees are: Election/Ballot Clerks.  

Volunteers and Elected Officials 

All volunteers and elected officials are expected to adhere to the Municipal Code of Ethics and 
the Town’s Acceptable Use policy. While some appointees to boards, committees, and 
commissions may fall under an employee classification of this policy, all Board, Committee, and 
Commission members are expected to follow guidelines, procedures, and policies described in 
the Town’s Boards and Committee Handbook in addition to all Town policies and procedures.  

A. APPOINTEES TO BOARDS, COMMITTEES, AND COMMISSIONS: People
appointed to serve in positions on Boards, Committees, or Commissions where there is
no compensation are not employees but volunteers providing service to the Lyman
community. Recruitment of appointees to boards, committees, and commissions, whether
classified as an employee or as a volunteer, is as outlined in the Recruitment and
Appointment of Volunteers Policy and in accordance with Municipal Charter Section
5.1.2.

B. TOWN SELECT BOARD: Members of the Town Select Board are officers of the
municipal corporation and are not considered employees. Members of the Select Board
are eligible for compensation as established by the Municipal Charter (Section 3.2).

C. ELECTED OFFICIALS: All other Elected Official are not considered employees and are
exempt from the personnel policy handbook and any benefits allotted herein. However,
any elected official is strongly encouraged to adhere to anti-discrimination, harassment,
non-bullying, workplace violence and other policies related to Town-owned assets,
workplace conduct, and treatment of employees. The Town may take any necessary
action against an elected official who violates any Town policy.

4.4: Job Descriptions 

The Town Manager (or Designee) maintains job descriptions for all positions. Job descriptions 
are utilized in all postings and advertisements for job openings.  

Job descriptions will contain the following information: 

• Position details Title, department, exempt or non-exempt status, classification.
• Supervision received and exorcised.
• Essential duties and responsibilities.
• Peripheral or Special duties (if applicable)
• Education and experience qualifications
• Knowledge, skills, and abilities qualifications.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 15 

• Physical requirements and work environment.

The Town Manager (Or Designee) will review job descriptions on a periodic basis and determine 
modifications.  For employee positions that are under the supervision of a 
Supervisor/Department Head, the Town Manager (or Designee) may solicit recommendations 
from the Supervisor/Department Head. The Town Manager (or Designee) has final approval of 
all changes and revisions to job descriptions. The Select Board has final approval on all changes 
and revisions to the Town Manger’s job description.  

4.5: New Employee Onboarding 

The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) will oversee and coordinate with the employee to 
provide onboarding materials such as: 

• Review of Employee Personnel Policies and Procedures, including all other policies
outside of this policy handbook that are herein referenced under relevant sections.

• Review of employee’s job description
• Review of Municipal Code of Ethics
• Review of the Town’s Acceptable Use Policy
• Review of employee benefits and applications, tax withholding and I-9 forms
• Review of building access, security codes, and keys.
• Review of training programs available and applicable to the employee’s position.
• Review of probationary period

4.6: Probation 

All Regular Full-Time and Part-Time employees are considered probationary employees for the 
first six (6) months of employment unless otherwise provided for by law. During the 
probationary period, the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) shall 
conduct an evaluation at or before the completion of six months of employment. The purpose of 
the probationary period is for the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) 
to observe an employee’s work habits, skills, attitudes, competency, and other pertinent 
characteristics for successful job performance. Any Regular Full-Time or Part-Time employee 
who receives a promotion or transfer may be required to serve another probationary period. The 
probationary period shall be considered an extension of the selection process.  

During the probationary period, the Supervisor/Department Head may recommend to the Town 
Manager (or Designee) that an employee be removed if unable or unwilling to perform the duties 
of the position satisfactorily or whose work habits and dependability did not merit the 
continuance of services. Such removal will not be subject to review or appeal.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 16 

At the time of hiring, transfer, or promotion, the employee shall be advised of the probationary 
period.  

Performance Appraisal Process for Probationary Employees During the probationary period, 
employees may receive written evaluation(s) at two months, four months, and six months of their 
employment (or any combination thereof as necessary). The Town Manager (or Designee) will 
review the evaluations. If applicable the Supervisor/Department Head will give a 
recommendation to the Town Manager (or Designee) regarding continuance of employment. The 
Town Manager (or Designee) shall conduct reviews of Department Head employees.  

4.7: Promotion 

Town employees shall be given the opportunity for advancement. Employees shall be given first 
consideration in filling a vacancy when qualified employees express an interest in the vacancy. 
Upon approval by the Town Manager (or Designee), an existing employee may fill a vacant 
position without posting the position for external advertising. Employees may not be promoted to 
a new position without loss of seniority, pay, or job grade to a vacant position. The Town 
Manager (or Designee) may authorize reclassifications and/or job title changes when appropriate 
outside of the normal selection process.  

Current employees may be given training opportunities to qualify for promotions. However, 
based on qualifications, experience, and abilities required for the position, the vacancy may be 
filled by an outside applicant. Such a decision shall be made only after careful review of the 
qualifications of all Town employees who apply for the position.  

4.8: Performance Evaluations 

The Supervisor/Department Head shall be responsible for the implementation of employee 
performance evaluations. The Town Manager (or Designee) shall evaluate the performance of 
Supervisor/Department Heads.  

The annual evaluation period is January 1 through December 31. Regular full-time and part-time 
employees are evaluated on an annual basis. The performance evaluation shall include a goal 
setting process for the upcoming calendar year.  

Supervisors/Department Heads and the Town Manager (or Designee) should provide frequent 
and periodic feedback to the employee on job performance. To assist employees in improving 
their job performance, various tools such as training and implementing performance 
improvement plans may be utilized.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 17 

Written performance evaluations shall be completed at least annually around the same time 
through the months of December to January for full-time and part-time employees. Employee 
evaluations must be signed by the employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager 
(or designee). An employee may attach a written statement within ten (10) calendar days after 
any evaluation given to be included in their personnel file.  

All job-related employee performance evaluations are strictly confidential and shall only be 
between the Supervisor/Department Head, Town Manager (or Designee) and the employee. 
Unless in the event that disciplinary action and/or complaints are at the level of the Select Board 
and/or Fair Hearing Board, only then, will the Select Board and/or Fair Hearing Board have 
access to the employee’s performance evaluations. Only individuals who have a job-related 
interest in reviewing an employee’s performance evaluation shall have access to the document. 
(i.e. Supervisor/Department Head, Town Manger (or Designee)). 

4.9: Training 

Both the Town and its employees benefit from training opportunities reasonably related to the 
employee’s current position. The outcome of training opportunities is to improve the quality of 
an employee’s job performance, which in turn results in more efficient and effective operations. 
It shall be the responsibility of the Town Manager (or Designee) to provide Town employees 
with reasonable opportunities for in-service training and attendance at conferences.  

Prior approval by the Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) is required 
for the course/conference fee and any accommodation reasonably necessary. The approval is 
subject to available and approved funds in the budget, the relationship of the employee’s position 
and training must be in the best interest of the Town. The Town Manger (or Designee) and 
Supervisor/Department Head shall authorize employee attendance at out-of-state conferences 
based on available funds and conditions determined by the Town Manager (or Designee).   

4.10: Compensation 

PAY DATES:  Employees are paid bi-weekly, with the pay week from Thursday through 
Wednesday. Deductions are taken out each pay period, with insurance premiums deducted based 
on a two-pay month.  

PAY RANGES: The Town Manager (or Designee) will prepare pay ranges for all employees in 
accordance with the approved budget. Each pay range will reflect knowledge, skills, abilities, 
and responsibilities and shall be related to compensation for comparable positions in other public 
and private employment. Individual rate changes or re-assignments must be approved by the 
Town Manager (or Designee) and signed by the employee. The Town Manager will advise the 
Board as needed and submit an updated list of pay rates/ranges to the Board as part of the annual 
budget process.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 18 

OVERTIME: Any time actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours in one work week shall be 
compensated by overtime pay at a rate of time and one-half, with the exception of Exempt 
Employee’s.  

ANNUAL ADJUSTMENT: Any salary or wage adjustment based on the Cost of Living 
Adjustment (COLA) will commence on July 1 of each respective year in accordance with the 
approved municipal budget. The Town Manager (or Designee) may recommend a COLA 
adjustment to the Board, subject to voter approval, taking into consideration the Town’s staffing 
patterns, the relevant labor market, the rate of inflation, and adjustments to compensation 
packages. Due to budget constraints, economic downturns, or other circumstances and events, 
the Town Manager (or Designee) may choose not to recommend a COLA adjustment, nor 
guarantee that levels will remain the same. COLA is not a guaranteed rate and may be changed 
from the Town Manager’s (or Designee) recommendation through the Budget process.  

PERFORMANCE BASED MERIT PROGRAM: The Town Manger (or Designee) may each 
year at his or her discretion establish a performance based merit program in order to recognize 
the positive performance of employees. The program will be dependent on available funding. 
Merit raises will be awarded as determined in writing by the Town Manager (or Designee). Merit 
raises will be based on an employee’s annual performance evaluation. Annual performance 
evaluations shall begin December of each year, during the budget process.  

(Note: SB will need to determine if giving merit raises or not and how (ie: stipend, pay increase) 

4.11: Personnel File 

The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) is responsible for maintaining a centralized personnel 
file for all employees. Supervisors/Department Heads are required to provide the Town 
Manger’s office (or Designee) personnel paperwork provided by an employee. Access to an 
employee’s personnel file are limited to the employee, the Town Manager (or Designee), Legal 
Counsel, and other personnel determined to have a legitimate need to know.  

Employees may review their personnel file by forwarding a written request to the Town 
Manger’s office (or Designee). Personnel files may not be removed from Town Property and are 
reviewed by the employee in the presence of the Town Manager (or designee). Upon written 
request, employees shall receive one copy of their personnel file at the cost to the Town per 
annum (M.R.S.A 26:7 ss 631). If the employee wishes for an additional copy during the calendar 
year, it will be at the expense of the employee.  

The Town Manger’s office (or Designee) maintains all personnel files for terminated employees 
as specified by State and Federal retention laws. Any request for information made under the 
Maine Freedom of Access Act shall be forwarded to the Town Manager (or Designee).  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 19 

4.12: Resignation 

Employees who are considering resignation from their position with the Town are encouraged to 
discuss the situation with the Town Manager (or Designee). An employee who chooses to resign 
is required to submit their resignation to the Town Manager (or Designee) in writing and provide 
at least ten (14) working days’ notice. The Town Manager (or Designee) will meet with the 
employee to conduct an exit interview and discuss such matters as the final paycheck and 
benefits status.  

Under certain circumstances and situations, the Town Manager (or Designee) has the authority to 
accept verbal resignations. Pay at separation procedure is as outlined in section 7.5 of this 
Personnel Policy Handbook  

4.13: Layoffs 

An employee may be laid off whenever is necessary because of a shortage of funds, lack of 
work, or other related reasons, which do not reflect discredit upon the employee. Layoff 
decisions shall be based on the needed skill set in each job classification. Seniority within the 
department may be considered as appropriate.  

If the layoff is temporary in nature with the intention to re-employ an employee as soon as 
possible, coverage in Town sponsored benefits such as health, dental, and vision may continue 
for 90 days. However, retirement contributions ceases until such a time when the employee 
returns to regular full-time employment.  

SECTION 5:  

DISCIPLINE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

5.1: Discipline 

The Town shall base disciplinary actions or measures on a “just cause” basis. Under normal 
circumstances, the Town endorses a policy of progressive discipline to provide employees with 
notice of deficiencies and an opportunity to improve. All discipline, including verbal warning, 
must be documented appropriately and specify reason(s) and actions necessary for improvement. 
Supervisors/Department Heads and the Town Manager (or Designee) should inform the 
employee promptly and specifically of such lapses of employee conduct. The Town expects 
employees to comply with its standards of conduct and performance and to correct any 
noncompliance with these standards.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 20 

Types of Action Outlined below are the Town’s progressive discipline procedures. The Town 
reserves the right to combine or skip steps depending on the facts of each situation and the nature 
of the offense. 

1. Verbal warning
2. Written warning
3. Suspension
4. Termination

Verbal and Written Warnings: Identify each issue of discipline, as well as the appropriate 
corrective measures to be taken by the employee (including their time frame for completion) in 
order for the Town to consider each issue as resolved. Supervisors/Department Heads are 
responsible for communicating warnings after consultation with the Town Manager (or 
Designee). 

Suspension of Employment: Is a period of paid or unpaid leave during which the employee is 
relieved of duty and will not be permitted at the job site or act in the capacity of their duties. This 
action is taken when performance, conduct, or safety incidents necessitate a review. When 
immediate action is necessary to ensure the safety of the employee or others, the 
Supervisor/Department Head shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or Designee). All 
suspensions are subject to approval from the Town Manager (or Designee). 

Termination of employment: May be necessary in cases where corrective actions have failed to 
improve performance, obtain compliance with Town policies, and/or correct inappropriate 
conduct. Under no circumstances shall an employee be terminated without Town Manager (or 
Designee) approval. If immediate removal from the work site is necessary, the employee shall be 
suspended pending review.  

This policy does not provide contractual rights regarding employee discipline or counseling, nor 
should anything in this policy be read or construed as modifying or altering the employment-at-
will relationship between the Town and its employees. Any time the Town determines it is 
necessary, such as in the case of a major breach of policy or violation of law, the Town reserves 
the right to immediately proceed to appropriate action, up to and including termination.  

Paid Administrative Leave 

When the situation warrants, the Town may consider paid administrative leave, which is a non-
disciplinary action that allows the Town to remove the employee from the workplace for reasons 
other than disciplinary issues, such as when an investigation is conducted or when there is a 
safety concern in the workplace. Notice of paid administrative leave shall provide the cause, time 
frame, and conditions for reinstatement. As previously stated, paid administrative leave is not 
considered to be in and of itself discipline.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 21 

Documentation 

If a disciplinary action is taken, a copy of the decision regarding the action shall be filed in the 
employee’s personnel file and a copy given to the employee. The employee will be asked to sign 
copies of this documentation attesting to his or her receipt and understanding of the corrective 
action outlined in these documents. The employee has the right to respond in writing and to have 
this response placed in the employee’s personnel file but must do so within ten (10) calendar 
days of the date of the corrective action. Any disciplinary action that is removed must also have 
the employee’s response removed at the same time. The employee may request that disciplinary 
action be removed from the personnel file: 

A. When all corrective action has been taken and a re-review of the disciplinary decision has
shown significant improvement.

B. The employee may request a re-review of the disciplinary decision after a period of five
(5) years.

C. Unless the disciplinary decision is termination, then the record(s) shall remain on file per
State and Federal retentions laws.

5.2: Grievance Procedure 

Grievances are disputes, claims, or complaints of issues relating to the employer-employee 
relationship. The procedures outlined below allow Town employees to receive a fair and 
unbiased review of workplace concerns. As outlined below, every effort must be made to 
reconciliate disputes at the lowest level possible before any complaint or grievance is brought to 
a higher level. The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) maintains records of grievances 
confidentially and securely. In the event of employee termination, after such termination has 
been made final by the Select Board, no grievance procedure under this policy shall apply.  

A. Informal Discussion: The employees’ concerns should first be discussed with the
Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Many concerns can be
resolved informally when an employee and Supervisor/Department Head meet to review
and discuss options to address the issue.

B. Written Complaint:

I. If a grievance is not resolved after an informal discussion with the employee’s
Supervisor/Department Head, the employee may submit a written complaint within
five (5) work days of the incident to the Town Manager (or Designee) to include:

• A concise explanation of the grievance and details of all previous efforts to
resolve the issue.

• Detailed information including evidence of the issue, related policies, etc.
• The remedy or outcome desired.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 22 

The Town Manager (or Designee) will have five (5) work days to respond to the 
employee in writing as to either the outcome or the next course of action.   

II. If the grievance arises from an alleged act or omission on the part of the Town
Manager, the employee may submit a written complaint within five (5) work days to
the HR Liaison(s) of the Select Board to include:

• A concise explanation of the grievance and details of all previous efforts to
resolve the issue.

• Detailed information including evidence of the issue, related policies, etc.
• A copy of the Town Manager’s written response.
• Detailed information regarding the employee’s dissatisfaction with the Town

Manager’s response

The HR Liaison(s) will evaluate the grievance and conduct a period of discovery to 
review any and all related details pertaining to the grievance and provide a written 
response within ten (10) work days of receipt of the appeal as to either the outcome 
or the next course of action.  

C. Written Complaint to Select Board: In the event the employee is unsatisfied with the
dispute resolution of the HR Liaison(s) the employee may file a written request, within
fifteen (15) work days of receipt of appeal, to the Town Manager (or Designee) for a
hearing with the Select Board. The Town Manager (or Designee) will promptly inform
the Select Board. Upon receipt of the grievance, The Select Board will hold a hearing in
executive session (unless otherwise agreed to, in writing, by all involved parties to waive
their executive session rights) at their next regularly scheduled meeting that is no less
than fifteen (15) work days and no more than twenty (20) work days to review the
grievance and issue a decision. The decision of the Select Board shall be final. The
written request must include details of the grievance as outlined below:

• A clear and concise statement of the facts giving rise to the grievance,
including date, time and place of the alleged incident, if any, relating to the
grievance, and characterizing each particular act or omission.

• A copy of any documents relating to the grievance (if any).
• A statement setting forth the remedy sought.

D. Fair Hearing Board: Before any complaint, grievance or concern is brought before the
Fair Hearing Board, all other avenues, internal to Town Government, for addressing such
matters must have been exhausted. The Fair Hearing Board shall moderate any pre-
suspension or termination hearings of Town employees in accordance with Municipal
Charter Section 5.2.1 (c) and to determine if due process was or was not applied to the
grievances brought to the Fair Hearing Board, section 5.2.3.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 23 

The employee may submit a written appeal to the Town Manager (or Designee) who will 
promptly inform the Fair Hearing Board and shall act as liaison to the Fair Hearing Board 
to provide necessary documents pertaining to the grievance. The Fair Hearing Board will 
uphold confidentiality for all parties involved and conduct an unbiased review of the case 
in accordance with Municipal Charter section 5.2.3. The Fair Hearing Board will render a 
decision, within 15 work days of receipt of the written appeal, if due process was or was 
not applied in the disciplinary action process along with any necessary redial actions to 
be taken (section 5.2.3 (1)(2) Municipal Charter). 

SECTION 6:  

WORKPLACE GUIDELINES

6.1 Employee Conduct and Public Relations 

In order for the Town, Officials, and Employees to maintain a positive relationship with the 
public they serve, we must abide by policies and procedures that will protect the public and 
fortify public trust and the trust we place in ourselves and our co-workers. All Town employees 
must avoid any conduct that might result in or create the impression of using public employment 
for private gain, giving preferential treatment to any person, or losing complete impartiality in 
conducting Town business. Employees must always act in the best interest of the Town.  

Town employees shall cooperate with the public and uphold standards of efficiency, 
professionalism, and economy in their work. All departments shall promote teamwork and 
collaborate efforts in response to public inquiries, ensuring our taxpayers are entitled to the best 
services we can provide them. Conduct that interferes with the Town’s operations, brings 
discredit on the Town, or is offensive to residents or fellow employees will not be tolerated.  

Cooperation, responsiveness, and courtesy are fundamental elements of good service. In efforts 
to provide meaningful services to Town residents, employees are expected to: 

• Give full and productive work to the best of their abilities and skills.
• Demonstrate a constructive, friendly, and positive attitude towards residents, co-workers,

visitors, or any other affiliates with the Town.
• Be prompt and timely in responses to public inquiries.
• Respect and follow the policies, guidelines, and procedures of the Town.
• Comply with all Federal, State, and local laws and regulations.

While it’s not possible to outline every potential violation, below is a non-exclusive list of types 
of conduct, which may give rise to discipline for any reason, even if not set forth in the following 
standards. Examples listed below are illustrative of prohibitive behavior and are not intended to 
be all-inclusive. Please direct questions about this section to the Town Manger (or designee). 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 24 

• Being at work while under influence of illegal drugs or alcohol.
• Possession, distribution, sale, transfer, or use of illegal drugs or alcohol in the workplace

while on duty or while operating Town owned vehicles and equipment.
• Operating equipment or performing duties in an unsafe manner.
• Fighting or provoking a fight on Town property.
• Theft of any Town property, materials, equipment, supplies, or other items under

ownership of or deemed an asset of the Town.
• Indecent or immoral personal conduct, including the use of profanity or abusive

language, displaying offensive pictures, screen savers, etc.
• Threatening, coercing, intimidating or interfering in any way with the work or safety of

other employees or residents
• Displaying or holding pornography either by printed or electronic media
• Falsification of timekeeping records
• Excessive absenteeism or any absence without notice
• Failure to give complete and accurate information on any forms of other Town

documents where data is required or requested of the employee
• Making false or malicious statements about the Town, or any of its employees or

residents
• Engaging in gambling or other illegal activities on Town property at any time
• Disclosing confidential information about Town employees or residents
• Criminal activity
• Insubordination

6.2: Professional Appearance 

Employees are representatives of the Town and expected to have professional conduct and 
project a positive image. Professional attire is expected of all employees consistent with the work 
location and nature of work. Employees are asked to use good judgement and present themselves 
at all times in a manner that best represents the Town. Departments may elect to establish 
different standards based on job roles, safety, or OSHA requirements.  

When determining whether or not attire is appropriate, employees should consider: 

• What types of job duties are required in the performance of their roles.
• General location where performance of job duties is carried out.
• With whom an employee is interacting with when transacting Town business.
• Personal safety consideration.

Additionally, employees are expected to come to work in clothing that is neat, clean, in good 
repair and is free from slogans or symbols that may be offensive to co-workers, the general 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 25 

public and others with whom they do business. Employees must also exercise discretion with 
regard to safety when specific job functions present different standards in the work environment. 

6.3: Attendance and Punctuality 

In order to provide effective services to Lyman citizens, it’s important for employees to be 
regular and punctual in attendance. Employees are expected to report to their designated work 
location based on their regular work schedule. In the event an employee cannot report to work as 
scheduled, the employee shall notify their immediate supervisor within thirty (30) minutes of the 
time that employee was scheduled to work.  

Tardiness, unexpected absences, or failure to report as required may result in disciplinary action. 
If an employee is absent for more than three (3) days due to illness or injury, they may be 
required to provide a medical statement from their doctor indicating the reason for the absence. 
Employees may also be required to produce a statement from their doctor assuring they are fit for 
duty to return from an absence. A physician’s statement or fitness for duty certificate may be 
required where absence is continuous for a period of several working days and after surgery or 
accident, regardless of the length of absence. Failing to report an absence properly or excessive 
absences or lateness, even when reported may be grounds for disciplinary action up to and 
including termination. 

6.4: Confidentiality 

During the course of their duties, employees of the Town are often privy to information about 
individuals, which is sensitive and will be kept confidential. Examples include, but are not 
limited to, labor relations, General Assistance, and personnel actions. Employees are expected to 
respect the confidential nature of such information. Violations may be grounds for disciplinary 
action up to and including termination.  

6.5: Outside Employment 

Town employees may engage in outside employment; however, no employee may engage in 
outside employment which in any manner interferes with the performance of the duties of their 
position, or results in a conflict of interest. Employees must inform their Department 
Head/Supervisor and Town Manager of their outside employment.  

6.6: Political Activities 

Except as otherwise provided by law, no person who is an employee of the Town shall be 
eligible to hold any elective office in the Town Government.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 26 

While in the employment of the Town, an employee shall not: 

• Engage in political activity while on duty;
• Use the influence of his or her employment capacity for or against any candidate for any

County, State, Federal, or Town elective office (i.e: Select Board, Budget Committee, or
School Board);

• Use Town facilities, equipment, materials, or supplies to communicate, organize, assist,
or advocate for or against any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective
office, or for or against a political cause, regardless of whether he or she is on or off duty.

For the purposes of this section, political activity means to advocate expressly for or against any 
candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office; to circulate nomination papers, 
petitions, or campaign literature for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office; to 
advocate expressly for or against a political cause; and/or to knowingly give, solicit, accept, or 
receive a political contribution for any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town 
elective office or for a political cause.  

This provision is not to be construed to prevent Town employees from carrying out the duties 
and responsibilities of an employee’s position; from becoming, or continuing to be, members of 
any political organization; from attending political organization meetings from donating personal 
time, service, or resources to a political cause or candidate for any office; from expressing their 
views on political matters; or from voting with complete freedom in any election.  

6.7: Conflict of Interest 

Town employees are expected to treat everyone they serve with complete impartiality and are 
prohibited from using their official position for personal gain. Employees will not have any 
material financial interests in any private or professional activity that will be in conflict with 
their job responsibilities and will not represent private interests that are in conflict with the 
Town’s interest.  

Employees shall treat all citizens and others doing business with the Town with courtesy and 
respect and will not grant any citizens any favor, benefit, or special privileges beyond what is 
provided to all citizens. Employees will place public interests above individual, group and 
special interests.  

Employees shall keep confidential any information not available to citizens that becomes known 
to them by virtue of their position with the Town. Matters of personnel, including recruitment, 
selection, or promotion shall be handled on the basis of qualification, ability, and merit.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 27 

Employees must disclose to the Town Manager (or Designee) the nature and extent of any 
financial or personal interest in any Town contract, agreement, purchase of goods or services, or 
projects. The Town Manager (or Designee) will review such disclosures of conflicts of interest 
and determine appropriate practices to maintain partiality. 

6.8: Solicitation 

The Town of Lyman prohibits solicitation, distribution, and posting of materials on or at Town 
property by Town employees, except as may be permitted by this policy. The sole exception to 
this policy is charitable and community activities sponsored by the Town and Town-sponsored 
programs related to the Town’s services.  

Employees may not solicit other employees during work times, except in connection with Town 
approved or Town-sponsored events. Employees may not distribute literature of any kind during 
work times, or in any work areas, except in announcements in connection with Town-sponsored 
events. The posting of materials or electronic announcements are permitted with approval from 
the Town Manager (or Designee).  

6.9: Town Equipment and Materials 

All Town-owned equipment, vehicles, tools, materials and supplies are the property of the Town 
of Lyman. The following shall govern the personal use by employees of Town-owned equipment 
(including computers, laptops, and cell phones) or supplies.  

I. Town equipment (including computers, laptops, and cell phones) or supplies will not be
used by an employee in the conduct of private business activities, for compensation, or
profit.

II. Town equipment that is issued to an employee for purposes related to their job functions
(i.e. laptop, cell phone, devices designated for out of office use) will not be used for an
employee’s personal use or the personal use of another.

III. Town equipment, that is otherwise not issued for out of office use, will not be removed
from Town premises for an employee’s personal use or the personal use of another.

IV. Employees are expected to follow the Town’s Acceptable Use Policy.
V. The Town’s letterhead will not be used for personal correspondence or in personal

business correspondence.
VI. With approval of the Town Manager (or designee), an employee may use Town

equipment such as computers, photocopy machines, or faxes occasionally for personal
tasks, so long as these tasks are performed on the employees own time and cost of
supplies will be reimbursed to the Town for any supplies consumed in their personal use
of Town equipment. Employees are responsible for any damage to Town equipment
occurring during personal use thereof.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 28 

Additionally, employees may have access to heavy equipment, such as vehicles, loaders, tractors, 
or other types of machinery to perform essential functions of their job. Employees are expected 
to adhere to all workplace safety policies and procedures. Supervisors/Department Heads may 
employ stricter practices and determine who may operate Town-owned heavy equipment within 
their department. 

Smoking and smokeless tabaco are not permitted in any Town-owned vehicles or heavy 
equipment.  

All employees must use seat belts while in Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment, either as 
an operator or a passenger. This policy also applies when an employee is using his or her own 
personal vehicle for Town business.  

Any employee that is operating Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment will not use any 
cellular device or any other type of electronic device that impairs or distracts the employee from 
the safe operation of vehicle equipment.  

Employees in violation of any section of this policy may receive disciplinary action up to and 
including termination.  

6.10: Cell Phone Use 

The Town allows employees to bring personal cell phones to work, however, use of personal cell 
phones is expected to be kept at a minimum for calls and text messages. Urgent calls to/from 
family members or for emergency matters can be made/received and should be kept brief. While 
occasional phone calls are acceptable, frequent or lengthy personal calls and texts can be 
disruptive and non-productive and not in the best interest of the Town. For this reason, it is 
expected that employees make or receive personal phone calls and text messages during non-
work time as much as practicable.  

When sending text messages for Town business-related matters, employees are expected to use 
discretion and good judgement. As with email and other documents related to Town business, 
text messages made on Town-owned and personal cellular phones are subject to Maine’s 
Freedom of Access Act (FOAA). Sending text messages of a confidential or inappropriate nature 
should be avoided.  

Employees who willfully violate this policy are subject to progressive disciplinary action for 
disruptive, excessive use, or continuous non-compliance, to include having cellular phone 
privileges revoked during work hours.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 29 

6.11: Workplace Safety 

The Town of Lyman strives to provide a safe work environment for all employees and the 
general public conducting business in Town facilities. All employees have a responsibility in 
keeping the workplace safe, healthy, and productive, and to provide safe and efficient services to 
the public. Supervisors/Department Heads are responsible for ensuring worksites and office areas 
are free from recognized job hazards and performance of job duties is done in a safe manner.  

The Town’s goal is to minimize hazards such as human injury, property loss, or fire. All 
employees must report all accidents or injuries immediately to their supervisor and/or Town 
Manager (or Designee). Employees shall exercise caution when operating machinery. Horseplay, 
practical jokes, or shortcuts that jeopardize the safety of others will not be tolerated and will 
result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

Employees should report unsafe working conditions to their Supervisor/Department Head and 
Town Manager (or Designee).  

Despite employees’ best efforts in maintaining a safe work environment, workplace injuries may 
occur. In the event of a workplace injury, employees are required to follow procedures as 
outlined in section 8.6 of this Personnel Policy Handbook. 

6.12: Social Media Policy 

All employees are expected to follow the Social Media Policy which has been established as a 
separate policy titled “Communications and Social Media Policy” as well as relevant social 
media sections of the “Acceptable Use Policy” 

6.13: Technology – Acceptable Use Policy 

Technology resources, computer information systems, and networks are an integral part of the 
business of the Town. The Town provides technology resources to employees to support them in 
accomplishing their work-related tasks. Employees are expected to review the Town’s 
Acceptable Use Policy upon employment and annually.  

6:14: Purchasing Procedures, See Policy 

All employees are expected to follow policy and procedures as outlined in the “Town of Lyman 
Purchasing Procedures” which has been established as a separate policy.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 30 

6.14: Inclement Weather and Emergency Closings 

Certain emergencies may require closure of municipal facilities in order to provide appropriate 
emergency response and/or maintain the safety of employees and the public. Those emergencies 
may include, but are not limited to, major medical crisis, public health or safety threats, fires, 
serious workplace injuries, vehicular and pedestrian accidents. The Town Manager (or Designee) 
shall have discretion to close the municipal facility for such emergencies. Employees will be 
paid for the remainder of their scheduled shift from the time of the official closing. In the event 
the emergency occurs before the Town office opens, employees will be notified of the closure as 
soon as is reasonable. While the Town will always make every effort to keep municipal facilities 
open to continue public services, if an employee feels their safety is at risk by remaining at work, 
the employee may use available accrued time off to remain at/return home.  

During periods of inclement weather, the Town Manager (or Designee) may decide to close the 
Town Office. Employees will be paid for the remainder of their scheduled shift from the time of 
the official closing. In the event the Town office remains open during inclement weather an 
employee may use available accrued paid time off if they are unable to arrive at work.  

6.15: Drug and Alcohol Policy 

The Town of Lyman strongly believes in a safe environment free from substance misuse for all 
employees and members of the public conducting business with the Town. Employees are 
expected to report for work and perform their duties in a manner that does not jeopardize the 
health, safety, and well-being of co-workers and the public.  

No employee of the Town shall possess, dispense, distribute, store, use, or be under the influence 
of any alcoholic beverage, malt beverage, fortified wine, intoxicating liquor, illegal drugs, 
intoxicants, controlled substances, or other useable substances during working hours, including 
rest breaks and meal breaks.  

Employees shall not smoke, ingest, possess, distribute, or be under the influence of 
tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) or psychoactive cannabis products in the workplace, or at any time 
during which the employee is working, expected to work, and/or is on duty. The prohibitions of 
this paragraph apply to all cannabis usage, medicinal and recreational, whether or not lawful 
under Maine law.  

As provided in the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, employees are required to notify the 
Town Manager (or Designee) of a criminal or civil conviction for drug violation occurring in the 
workplace no later than five (5) calendar days after such conviction. The Town Manager (or 
Designee) will: 
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 31 

• Take appropriate personnel action against such employee up to and including
termination; and/or

• Require the employee to satisfactorily participate in a substance use disorder treatment or
rehabilitation program.

6.16: Smoking 

Smoking of tobacco products is prohibited in any buildings/facilities owned by the Town. 
Employees are allowed to use tobacco products during their break times but must be outside of a 
building, away from any public entrances or within a designated smoking area and should not 
interfere with any person conducting business with the Town. No litter associated with tobacco 
may be discarded on or in Town property. 

SECTION 7:  

PAYROLL AND WORK SCHEDULES 

7.1: Payroll 

Payroll payments are made on a bi-weekly basis, outlined in 4.10 of this personnel handbook, to 
every employee for salary or wages earned. Pay days are on every other Wednesday, with direct 
deposit commencing on said day. 

Direct Deposit: The Town requires employees to use direct deposit for payroll to the financial 
institute of their choice. The Town does not make payroll advances to its employees, nor does 
the Town make loans to employees. 

Overcompensation - Pursuant to State Statute Title 26 §635: In the event of overcompensation, 
the Town will not withhold more than 5% of the net amount during subsequent pay periods 
without the employee’s written permission, except under the circumstance of the employee 
voluntarily terminating employment, the Town will deduct the full amount of overcompensation 
from any wages due.  The town may not exceed the amount of overcompensation paid to the 
employee in the three years preceding the date of discovery of overcompensation. The Town 
may deduct more than 5% of net pay if: 

• The employee agrees in writing;
• The employee voluntarily quits, or
• The employee “knowingly accepts” the overcompensationDRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 32 

For the purpose of this section, net amount, means the amount of money due an employee as 
compensation after any deductions or withholdings other than the Town’s withholdings for the 
purpose of recovering any overcompensation.  

Tax Withholding Forms: The Town follows IRS guidelines and rules for tax withholding forms 
(Federal W-4 and Maine Withholding). Employees may amend their tax withholding forms and 
it will be the employee’s responsibility to determine and elect the appropriate tax withholding 
from wages. Tax withholding forms are available from the Treasurer.  

7.2: Time Cards and Time Clock. 

The Town is required to keep records of hours worked by its non-exempt employees. Non-
exempt employees will record their work hours by using a time clock system. In the event the 
time clock system is not in function, non-exempt employees will record their work hours in 
writing and report the record to the Treasurer (or Designee) for processing payroll.  

7.3: Discretionary Time Off for Exempt Employees 

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) Exempt employees are required to work outside the normal 
schedule of working or office hours and are compensated on the basis of accomplishing the tasks 
demanded of the position without regard for specific number of hours worked. Exempt 
employees are not eligible for overtime pay or compensatory time.  

Exempt employees may take occasional discretionary time off without applying paid time off 
accruals for such time off taken when: 

A. It does not interfere with department operations, or the operations of other departments.
B. With prior approval by the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or

Designee)

7.4: Temporary Telecommuting (Remote) Policy 

Employees may on occasion need to conduct their work by Telecommuting/ Remote work 
methods, such as when an employee works any hours from a location other than Town facilities. 
Telework arrangements can provide a mutually beneficial option for both the Twon and its 
employees. Employees are expected to be responsible in their conduct of remote work and 
ensure that work goals can be met. 

The Town Manager (or Designee) will determine which positions are most suitable for 
temporary remote work options and shall make their determination based on the Town’s needs 
and the positions’ responsibilities. Not all jobs can be performed from off-site locations. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 33 

Positions requiring face-to-face interaction with customers and office personnel may not be 
suitable for telecommuting.  

At the discretion of the Town Manager (or Designee) the eligibility of telecommuting/ remote 
work options of an employee may be revoked. Notice of revocation shall be given as far in 
advance as possible but is not required. Reasons for revocation may include, but is not limited to, 
failure to follow applicable policies and procedures, changes in job responsibilities, limited or 
significantly decreased necessity, and any other reason as determined by the Town Manager (or 
Designee).  

Employees must be able to carry out the same duties, assignments, and other work obligations 
when working remotely as they would when working on Town premises. Candidates for 
temporary telecommuting arrangements must demonstrate good time-management and 
organizational skills, be self-motivated and self-reliant. Employees are expected to demonstrate 
professional conduct when engaging in remote meetings, webinars, trainings, etc.  

As a general rule, the Town will not be responsible for costs associated with the setup of an 
employee’s remote workspace, such as remodeling, furniture, or lighting, nor for repairs or 
modifications to the remote workspace. However, if the employee is in need of a reasonable 
accommodation in accordance with the American’s with Disabilities Act (ADA), an employee 
shall follow the process as outlined in section 2.4 of this Personnel Policy Handbook.  

Town Records: During remote work, employees shall be required to maintain all work product 
and records in a manner consistent with the Town’s standard record keeping practices and in full 
compliance with the Maine Freedom of Access Act and Records Retention Rules established by 
the Maine State Archivist. Employees shall not delete or destroy any records that are otherwise 
required to be maintained by the Town per these laws and rules. It shall be the responsibility of 
the employee to ensure he or she can satisfy these record keeping requirements while working 
remotely.  

Emergency Telecommuting/ Remote work: In the event of an emergency such as inclement 
weather, emergency closures or pandemic, the Town Manager (or Designee) may allow or 
require employees eligible for remote work to temporary work from home to ensure continuity in 
business and productivity. Employees are required to follow any and all guidelines provided by 
related policies and procedures.  

Determining equipment needs for each employee will be on a case-by-case basis.  Any employee 
with accessibility to perform remote work is expected to follow and adhere to the Town’s 
Acceptable Use Policy. Employees are expected to use any assigned Town-owned equipment for 
Town business purposes only. Employees must keep equipment safe and avoid any misuse. 
Additionally, other sections including 6.9 of this Personnel Policy Handbook shall apply. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 34 

Violations of this policy or any other related policies and procedures shall be grounds for 
disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

7.5: Pay at Separation 

(Note: Decide if we will pay out 100%, or set parameters, or pay none at all. See section 8.9 for 

PTO accruals, also added was a cap on the roll over amount for PTO which may help keep the 

accruals down for determining how much to pay out.) Outline below is with parameters set for 

pay out just as a middle ground sample between 0, Some, and 100%: 

Upon retirement or separation in good standing from the Town, an employee will receive a 
percentage of their accumulated Paid Time Off accruals (PTO) or Earned Paid Leave accruals 
(EPL), whichever applies, as separation pay in their final paycheck. “Good standing” shall mean 
fourteen (14) days notice to the Town in advance of the employees last actual day worked, in the 
case of proper resignation (section 4.12 of this Personnel Policy Handbook), valid retirement, or 
separation of the employee from the Town service for other than cause. The percentage amount 
is determined by the following: 

A. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, an employee who has completed one full
year of employment, whether full-time or part-time, and up to ten (10) consecutive years
from the date of hire, shall receive 35% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals in
their final paycheck.

B. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, after ten (10) years of continuous full-
time or part-time employment, the employee shall receive 50% of their accumulated PTO
or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.

C. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, after twenty (20) years of continuous
full-time or part-time employment, the employee shall receive 70% of their accumulated
PTO or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.

D. If an employee dies, 100% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals will be paid to the
estate of the decedent unless otherwise directed by a probate court.

(note: In other policies the above applies to accrued Sick Time and Vacation time is paid out 

100% regardless of term of employment. Lyman does not separate vacation and combines all 

types of time off as PTO) DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 35 

SECTION 8: 

BENEFITS 

8.1: Health and Life Insurance 

Health Insurance Benefits: The Town will provide a Maine Municipal Association (MMA) group 
insurance plan, which provides Maine Municipal Employees’ Health Trust medical coverage. 
The Town’s MMA Employees’ Health Trust coverage and level of service shall be established 
by the Select Board during the budgeting process. Currently the Town offers a POS C with a 
100% employer share for a Single Plan and will pay 70% of the difference of a single plan and 
that of a family two-person, or employee and child(ren) plan.  

Regular Full-Time employees and their families are eligible to participate. An employee must 
apply for coverage during open enrollment. The Town does not automatically enroll employees 
under any coverage plans. Employees are responsible for applying for any changes in coverage 
during the open enrollment period. Coverage will begin the first month following the employees’ 
hire date.  

Insurance Opt-Out: Any Regular Full-Time employee who does not elect to receive health 
insurance benefits and can demonstrate they have eligible insurance coverage, shall be eligible to 
receive 50% of the equivalence to a single plan, biweekly through payroll.  

Life Insurance Benefits: All Regular Full-Time employees of the Town are eligible for basic life 
insurance equal to one year of their annual salary as provided by State Statute and established by 
the Select Board. Upon the first month after the employee’s hire date, coverage shall be 
automatically applied. If an employee does not participate in the Town’s health insurance 
coverage, they will also receive the Town’s life insurance benefits unless the employee refuses 
life insurance coverage in writing.  

Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage: Above what the Town will cover for basic life insurance 
Regular Full-Time employees of the Town are eligible to opt in to supplemental Life Insurance 
coverage at the cost to the employee. Available Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage is as 
outlined below: 

• Life Insurance equal to two (2) years of an employee’s annual salary where the Town
will cover the cost of one year and the employee will cover the cost of the additional
second year.

• Life Insurance equal to three (3) years of an employee’s annual salary where the Town
will cover the cost of one year and the employee will cover the cost of the additional two
years. The insurance company may request access to an employees’ medical information
for this option.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 36 

• Dependent Life Insurance is offered to all employees at 100% cost to the employee.

For any employee that is not eligible to receive the above benefits, they shall have the option to 
opt into any benefit provided by the Town at 100% cost to the employee.  

8.2: Dental and Vision Insurance 

The Town will provide 100% employer share of a single plan for dental insurance for Regular 
Full-Time employees. Any employee that is not eligible for the single plan for dental, the 
employee may opt in for this benefit at 100% cost to the employee. For additional supplemental 
or family dental plans, any employee may elect to opt in at 100% cost to the employee.  

Vision insurance is provided to any employee at 100% cost to the employee. 

8.3: Income Protection Plan (IPP) 

The Town offers Income Protection Plans to Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time 
employees to help cover the employee in the event of serious injury or illness where the 
employee must take an extended leave. Eligible employees can elect to opt in to one of three plan 
options;  

• Income protection up to 40% of the employees weekly salary
• Income protection up to 55% of the employees weekly salary
• Income protection up to 70% of the employees weekly salary

8.4: Retirement 

All Regular Full-Time employees may elect to participate in Town sponsored retirement 
programs. The Town will only provide employer contributions to a single plan for each eligible 
employee. The Town currently offers eligible employees the option of a Maine Public employees 
Retirement System (MainePERS) plan or a Mission Square 457 (b) Retirement plan. All Regular 
Part-Time employees may participate in the 457 (b) Retirement plan and the Town will provide 
contributions as list out under section B, below: 

A. MainePERS: New employees must elect whether to participate in the MainePERS within
two (2) weeks of their date of hire. Under federal law, an employee elected in
MainePERS will not be able to leave the MainePERS plan for the duration of their
employment with the Town. If an employe declines to join MainePERS, they will not be
able to later elect to join MainePERS. The MainePERS plan is a Defined Benefit (DB)
pension plan. Employees contribute a percentage of earnings to MainePERS. The Town
will also contribute a set amount to MainePERS on behalf of employees. Participants in

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 37 

MainePERS and enrollees may also contribute to the Towns Mission Square 457 (b) 
plan, however the Town will only match contributions to MainePERS if an employee 
contributes to both MainePERS and Mission Square 457 (b) 

B. Mission Square 457 (b): Eligible employees may elect to participate in the Town’s 457
(b) Retirement Plan at hire or any time during employment. If the employee selects this
as their primary retirement plan, the Town will match employee contributions up to 6%.
Employees may contribute additional amounts so long as it’s in compliance with federal
regulations, however the Town will not match anything above 6%.

Social Security: The Town provides Social Security and Medicare coverage in compliance with 
federal law to all employees.   

8.5: Open Enrollment 

The open enrollment period will be once a year during a period established by the Maine 
Municipal Employee Health Trust. During the open enrollment period, employees are able to: 

• Enroll in health, dental, and vision plans
• Add or remove dependents from health, dental, and vision plans
• Drop coverage in health, dental, and vision plans
• Employees who elect to drop coverage in the Town’s health plan may be asked to

provide verification of coverage from a parent, spouse, or domestic partner’s insurance
plan.

For questions about Open Enrollment dates and how to make changes, please contact the 
Department of Finance.  

8.6: Workers’ Compensation 

The Town participates in a federally mandated Worker’s Compensation program. The following 
actions are required by employees: 

I. All injuries to personnel, no matter how minor, during the work schedule will be reported
immediately to the Town Manager (or Designee), but in no event later than sixty (60)
days after the date of injury. Maine law requires the Town to file a First Report of Injury
with Workers’ Compensation within seven (7) days of receiving notice of the injury.

II. An employee suffering from an on-the-job injury will be sent to a medical facility,
specified by the Town, for examination at the Town’s expense.

III. The employee will receive their normal pay for that day, and if eligible may be entitled to
use Paid Time Off (PTO) for any regularly scheduled time missed between the incident
and the date that workers’ compensation benefits may begin.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 38 

8.7: Unemployment 

Federal and State law govern unemployment benefits. The Town provides such benefits as 
mandated under these laws.  

8.8: Holidays 

The Town of Lyman recognizes all holidays as currently recognized by the State of Maine. 

New Year’s Day Labor Day 
Martin Luther King Jr. Day Indigenous Peoples’ Day 
Presidents’ Day Veteran’s Day 
Patriot’s Day  Thanksgiving Day 
Memorial Day  Day after Thanksgiving 
Juneteenth Day Christmas Day 
Independence Day 

If a regular holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday is considered a holiday; If on 
Saturday, the proceeding Friday is considered a holiday. For Christmas Day and/or New Year’s 
Day; if said holiday falls on a Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday, the work day prior will 
be a half day.  

Paid holidays will be granted to all Regular Full-Time employees. Regular Part-Time employees 
whose normal work schedule falls on the holiday, will receive holiday pay equal to the hours the 
employee would normally work that day.  

An employee on approved unpaid leave, such as unpaid extended sick leave or leave of absence, 
shall not be entitled to holiday pay.  

8.9: Paid Time Off (PTO) 

Regular Full-Time employees are eligible to earn Paid Time Off (PTO) accruals to cover any 
sick leave, personal days, or vacation time. The Town encourages employees to use their PTO 
accruals and take time off to enhance a positive work/life balance. Employees may use their PTO 
accruals at any time after their date of hire pending approval from a Supervisor/ Department 
Head or Town Manager (or Designee).  

Time Off Request Using PTO:

Requests for use of PTO accruals shall be submitted to the Supervisor/ Department Head or 
Town Manager (or Designee) in a timely manner. The Supervisor/Department Head shall 
approve time off requests for employees working within their department. The Town Manager 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 39 

(or Designee) shall approve time off requests for Supervisors/Department Heads. If the request is 
denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial.  

Time Off Requests Without PTO: 

Requests for time off shall be submitted as stated above. However, when the balance of PTO is 
insufficient to cover the requested length of time off, the authorizing Supervisor/Department 
Head shall have discretion to approve or deny the request. If the request is approved, the 
employee may use any remaining balance to cover any portion of the requested time off and in 
excess of the available PTO the remainder of requested time off shall be unpaid. If the request is 
denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial. In extenuating 
circumstances, such as bodily injuries unrelated to worker’s comp, prevention of communicable 
illness among others in the workplace environment, and any other such circumstances, the Town 
Manager (or Designee) may approve or deny the use of future, unaccrued PTO hours for the 
employee on a short-term basis. 

All Approved PTO requests will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to 
the Finance Department for payroll purposes. 

If a holiday falls within the employee’s time off period, the employee shall not have that day 
charged against their accumulated PTO. “Holiday” shall be defined by section 8.8 of this 
Personnel Policy Handbook.  

All Regular Full-Time employees eligible for PTO accruals will be able to roll over any unused 
PTO accruals or up to a maximum of 35% of their annual accruals, whichever is lesser. Rollover 
of PTO will be effective each year on July 1 and will be automatic. 

Any eligible PTO payout will be as follows under section 7.5. 

Exempt Employees: Accruals will be calculated bi-weekly at a prorated amount based on the 
Specific Eligibility Table under this section of the Personnel Policy Handbook.  

Non-Exempt Employees: Accruals are prorated based on the number of their regular scheduled 
hours worked and will not exceed a regular schedule of forty (40) hours per week.  

Specific Eligibility of PTO: This table is based on 37.5 hours worked per week. Years of service 
shall be continuous for employee eligibility.  

Years of continuous service Paid Time Off  (PTO) hours 
0 through 2 years 105 
3 through 5 years 145 
6 through 15 years 183 
Over 15 years 245 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 40 

8.10: Employee Recognition Program 

More Discussion with Select Board 

SECTION 9:  

EMPLOYEE LEAVE

9.1: Personal Days 

Any Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-Time employee will receive time allocation equal to two 
(2) regular scheduled work days. Personal time does not accrue year to year and is not subject to
pay out at separation.

Whenever possible, personal time must be requested and approved by the Supervisor/ 
Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Personal time will be applied for the regular 
scheduled hours of the day(s) being requested. The Town also recognizes employees’ ability to 
use time consistent with Maine’s Earned Paid Leave Law.  

9.2: Earned Paid Leave 

The Town of Lyman provides Earned Paid Leave (EPL) pursuant to State law Title 26 M.R.S.A 
sec. 1043(11).  

All employees under section 4.3 of this Personnel Policy Handbook are eligible for EPL 
accruals. The Town provides a benefit greater than EPL to Regular Full-Time employees through 
its Paid Time Off (PTO) policies under section 8.9. To comply with Maine’s Earned Paid Leave 
Law, eligible employees may utilize up to 40 hours of accrued benefit time during the calendar 
year for any type of time off as needed.  

Accrual of Earned Paid Leave: All eligible employees, other than Regular Full-Time employees, 
are entitled to earn one hour of paid leave for every 40 hours worked, up to a maximum of 40 
hours in one year of employment. Accruals begin at the start of employment. Any unused EPL 
will roll over into the next fiscal year of employment. However, the maximum amount of EPL 
available to the employee will not exceed 40 hours in one year. Rollover of EPL will be effective 
each year on July 1 and will be automatic. DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 41 

Time Off Requests Using EPL: 

Requests for use of EPL accruals shall be submitted to the Supervisor/ Department Head or 
Town Manager (or Designee) in a timely manner. If the request is denied, the authorizer shall 
provide in writing the reason for denial.  

Time Off Requests Without EPL: 

Requests for time off shall be submitted as stated above. However, when the balance of EPL is 
insufficient to cover the requested length of time off, the authorizing Supervisor/Department 
Head shall have discretion to approve or deny the request. If the request is approved, the 
employee may use any remaining balance to cover any portion of the requested time off and in 
excess of the available EPL the remainder of requested time off shall be unpaid. If the request is 
denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial. In extenuating 
circumstances, such as bodily injuries unrelated to worker’s comp, prevention of communicable 
illness among others in the workplace environment, and any other such circumstances, the Town 
Manager (or Designee) may approve or deny the use of future, unaccrued EPL hours for the 
employee on a short-term basis. 

All approved EPL requests will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to 
the Finance Department for payroll purposes.  

Any eligible EPL payout will be as follows under section 7.5. 

9.3: Extended Sick Leave 

A Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employee may be granted extended sick leave for 
his or her own serious medical condition by the Town Manager (or Designee). Requests for 
extended sick leave will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis an will be considered under the 
following provisions: 

A. The employee provides the Town Manager (or Designee), no later than three (3) weeks
prior to the conclusion of the employee’s 12 weeks of Family Medical Leave, satisfactory
medical certification from their personal physician that an extension is necessary,
including duration of extension.

B. Employees who have been notified that they do not qualify for leave under the Maine
FMLA or FLMA and have requested extended sick leave will also be asked to provide
medical certification from a health care provider that provides an estimate of the duration
of incapacity.

C. The employee will be required to utilize all available benefit leaves, including Paid Time
Off, Earned Paid Leave, and Personal Days during all periods of extended sick leave.

D. The employee will not accrue benefit time during any portion of unpaid sick extended
sick leave, nor will the employee be eligible for holiday pay during extended sick leave.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 42 

9.4: Leave for Victims of Domestic Violence 

The Town will grant reasonable and necessary paid or unpaid leave from work for eligible 
Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees who are victims of domestic violence, 
stalking, or sexual assault as provided in State law Title 26 M.R.S.A sec. (Employment Leave for 
Victims of Violence).  

The employee will be granted leave to prepare for and attend court proceedings, receive medical 
treatment, or attend to medical treatment for a victim who is the employee’s daughter, son, 
parent, or spouse, or obtain necessary services to remedy a crisis caused by domestic violence, 
sexual assault, or stalking.  

The leave must be needed because the employee or the employee’s child, parent, or spouse is a 
victim of violence, assault, or sexual assault under Title 17-A, Chapter 11, or stalking or any 
other act that would support an order for protection under Title 19-A, chapter 101. As soon an 
employee becomes aware of the need of a leave of absence, they must make a written request for 
leave to the Town Manger (or Designee). The request must specify the length of leave and 
determine how much Paid Time Off (PTO) is being requested. Employees who have no such 
leave banked and accrued shall receive unpaid leave.  

9.5: Military Leave 

The Town complies with all State and Federal law, governing the rights of employees who are 
entitled to leave and other rights and obligations applying to their military service. All employees 
in the military service will be granted time off from work for annual training obligations or 
active service in the Military (as defined below). Employees engaged in active military service 
will be placed on military leave of absence status. Employees receiving orders for military 
training or service should notify their Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or 
Designee) of the dates of their military service as far in advance as possible unless military 
necessity prevents such notice.  

Military leave and rights to re-employment after such leave are available to employees under the 
terms and conditions of applicable Federal and State la, as may be amended from time to time.  

Military Leave Without Loss of Pay: 

Employees (including employees who hold acting capacity and project appointments) are 
allowed up to seventeen (17) workdays in each calendar year without loss of pay or benefits 
when engaged in any form of military duty. The employee must furnish the 
Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) with an official statement signed 
by authority giving the employee’s rank, pay, and allowance during the employee’s seventeen 
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 43 

(17) day period. The employer will pay the difference, if any, between the employee’s regular
pay and military leave pay up to seventeen (17) days per year.

Military Leave Without Pay: 

When military service exceeds the 17 workdays authorized for military leave with pay, the 
employee must be placed on unpaid military leave. Employees may use, but are not required to 
use, accrued Paid Time Off (PTO), Earned Paid Leave (EPL), Personal Days, etc. when entering 
unpaid military service. Provisions for the optional use of Paid Time Off, Earned Paid Leave, 
Personal Days, etc. also to apply to employees who are called to active State duty by the 
Governor. Employees should determine which paid leave they wish to use and a fixed amount to 
use each pay period with Town Manager (or Designee) who will submit to the Department of 
Finance for payroll purposes prior to going out on leave.  

Maintenance of Benefits: 

An employee shall be entitled to maintain health insurance coverage on the same basis as if they 
had continued to work for the Town. To maintain uninterrupted coverage, the employee will be 
required to continue paying their share of insurance premium payments. If an employee is 
receiving concurrent PTO or EPL time, the premium will be deducted from the paycheck, as is 
normally the practice. The Town will bill for benefit premiums in the case that the employee is 
unpaid. Employees may opt for automatic ACH withdrawal to cover benefits costs. The payment 
shall be made by the 15th of each month. If the employee’s payment is more than sixty (60) days 
overdue, the Town will no longer maintain the coverage.  

Re-Employment: 

The guiding principle of the USERRA and Maine law is that an employee performing military 
service is not to suffer any detriment in employment and should be treated as if he or she had not 
left employment. State employees who enter military service retain reemployment rights under 
both the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 and Maine law. 
Exceptions are narrowly restricted to persons who hold temporary, non-recurrent employment. 
Although certain criteria are required for an employee to exercise his or her reemployment 
rights, denial of reemployment to a returning service member should be considered an 
extraordinary situation. Human resource professionals should be consulted if any adverse action 
is contemplated. 

An employee who enters military service on a short-term basis would generally be returned to 
the position that he or she left. Employees who enter military service on a long-term basis would 
be returned to the position that he or she left or be returned to a position of like status and pay for 
which he or she is qualified. Agency human resource representatives should be consulted if 
denial of reemployment for any reason is contemplated. 

Upon the completion of service (less than 31 days, including weekend drills) employees are also 
entitled to reasonable time for return travel, and an eight-hour period of rest, before returning to 
work. The allotted time to apply for reemployment increases incrementally, depending upon the 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 44 

length of service. Departmental human resource representatives should be consulted in unusual 
situations. 

9.6: Family Medical Leave 

The Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) entitles eligible employees of covered employers to 
take unpaid, job-protected leave for specified family and medical reasons. FLMA will run 
concurrently with all other leave and leave benefits, including but not limited to, Workers’ 
Compensation, Maine FMLA and will run even while the employee is using their own accrued 
leave (such as Paid Time Off and Earned Paid Leave). 

Eligible Employees: 

Only eligible employees are entitled to take FMLA leave. An eligible employee is one who: 

• Works for a covered employer (The Town of Lyman)
• Has worked for the employer for at least 12 months.
• Has at least 1,250 hours of service for the employer during the 12-month period

immediately preceding the leave; and

The 12 months of employment do not have to be consecutive. That means any time previously 
worked for the same employer (including seasonal work) could, in most cases, be used to meet 
the 12-month requirement. If the employee has a break in service that lasted seven years or more, 
the time worked prior to the break will not count unless the break is due to service covered by 
the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), or there is a 
written agreement, outlining the employer’s intention to rehire the employee after the break in 
service.  

Leave Entitlement: 

An eligible employee shall be entitled to twelve (12) workweeks of unpaid leave during a twelve 
(12) month period for one or more of the following reasons:

• the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care.
• to care for a spouse, child, or parent who has a serious health condition.
• for a serious health condition* that causes the employee to be unable to perform the

essential functions of their job; or
• For any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, child, or parent is a

military member on covered active duty or call to covered active-duty status.
• a serious health condition, which shall be defined as an illness of a serious and long-term

nature resulting in recurring or lengthy absences. Treatment of such an illness would
occur in an inpatient situation at a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility,
or would consist of continuing care provided by a licensed health care provider.

A serious health condition means an accident, injury, impairment, or physical or mental 
condition that involves either inpatient care or continuing treatment by a health care provider. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 45 

When both spouses are employed by the Town, they are each entitled to twelve (12) work weeks 
of family leave for the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care, and to care for a 
parent who has a serious health condition.  

An eligible employee may also take up to 26 workweeks of leave during a “single 12-month 
period" to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness, when the employee 
is the spouse, child, parent, or next of kin of the servicemember. The "single 12-month period" 
for military caregiver leave is different from the 12-month period used for other FMLA leave 
reasons.  

Under some circumstances, employees may take FMLA leave on an intermittent or reduced 
schedule basis. That means an employee may take leave in separate blocks of time or by 
reducing the time he or she works each day or week for a single qualifying reason. When leave is 
needed for planned medical treatment, the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule 
treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. If FMLA leave is for the birth, 
adoption, or foster placement of a child, use of intermittent or reduced schedule leave requires 
the employer’s approval.  

The Town requires employees to "substitute" (run concurrently) accrued Paid Time Off (PTO) or 
Earned Paid Leave (EPL) to cover all the FMLA leave period. However, employees may 
maintain up to forty (40) hours of PTO time for future time off.  

Notice: 

Employees must provide notice as far in advance as possible or as soon as possible and 
practicable under the circumstances.  

If the Town acquires knowledge that a leave may be for a FMLA-qualifying reason, the Town 
will provide the employee with notice concerning their eligibility for FMLA leave and their 
rights and responsibilities under the FMLA. The Town will also notify employees whether leave 
is designated as FMLA leave and the amount of leave that will be deducted from the employees’ 
FMLA entitlement.  

Certification: 

In the event an employee is requesting a leave, or the employer has acquired information the 
employee is going to be on leave due to their own serious health condition or a covered family 
member’s serious health condition, the Town may require certification in support of the leave 
from a health care provider.  

FMLA is generally unpaid, however, an employee may substitute any paid leave available to the 
employee under the Town’s policy (such as PTO or EPL). Employees should determine which 
paid leave they wish to use and a fixed amount to use each pay period with the Department of 
Finance for payroll purposes prior to going on leave.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 46 

Maintenance of Benefits: 

An employee shall be entitled to maintain group health insurance coverage on the same basis as 
if they had continued to work at the Town. To maintain uninterrupted coverage, the employee 
will be required to continue paying their share of insurance premium payments. If an employee is 
receiving concurrent PTO or EPL time, the premium will be deducted from the paycheck, as is 
normally the practice. The Town will bill for benefits premiums in the case that the employee is 
unpaid. Employees may opt for an automatic ACH withdrawal to cover benefits costs. The 
payment shall be made by the 15th of each month. If the employee's payment is more than sixty 
(60) days overdue, the Town will no longer maintain the coverage.

If the employee informs the Town that they does not intend to return to work at the end of the 
leave period, the Town’s obligation to provide health benefits ends.  
Vacation, sick, and holidays will not accrue beyond the twelve (12) week leave period, 
consistent with the Town’s leave policies, unless the employee is utilizing available accrued 
vacation, sick, or personal time. However, the use of family or medical leave will not be 
considered a break in service when vesting or eligibility to participate in benefit programs is 
being determined. Seniority of position is not affected.  

Job Restoration: 

Upon return from FMLA leave, an employee shall be restored to their original job or to an 
equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment. 

Employees accepting employment elsewhere while on FML may be disciplined, up to and 
including discharge. 

9.7: Maine Family Medical Leave 

If not eligible for FMLA, an employee may qualify for Maine Family Meical Leave (MFML). 
To be eligible under MFML, an employee is required to have worked for the Town for 12 
consecutive months. Under the Maine Family Medical Leave Act, employees are (1) eligible for 
10 work weeks of unpaid FML (2) during a two year period (3)for the employee’s serious health 
condition, the birth or adoption of a child, including a domestic partner’s child, the serious health 
condition of a child or grandchild, domestic partner’s child and grandchild, domestic partner or 
spouse, sibling, or death of an employee’s spouse, domestic partner, parent, sibling, or child who 
is a covered service member who dies while eon active duty.  

Request for MFML will be analyzed under both Main and Federal FMLA. 

9.8: Parental Leave 

Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-Time employees who have completed one full year of 
employment with the Town will be eligible for an additional twelve (12) weeks of paid leave 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 47 

upon the birth or adoption of their child and/or children to be used concurrently with Family 
Medical Leave if applicable. Such time shall be used in addition to the employee’s current Paid 
Time Off (PTO) balance. Parental Leave expires twelve (12) weeks after the date of birth or 
placement.  

Requests for paid parental leave shall be submitted to the Supervisor/Department Head or Town 
Manager (or Designee). Requests shall be made in a timely manner at least 30 days prior to the 
proposed date of leave (or if the leave was not foreseeable, as soon as possible). All Approved 
requests for Parental Leave will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to 
the Finance Department for payroll purposes. 

Employees will receive no more than twelve (12) weeks paid parental leave. Employees may 
elect to use PTO accruals in excess of the 12 weeks paid parental leave granted and with 
approval from the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) 

9.9: Bereavement 

All Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees shall receive bereavement leave as 
provided by the town. In the event of the death of an employee’s spouse, legally recognized 
partner, children, mother, father, or legal guardian, the employee shall be granted five (5) days’ 
leave of absence, with full pay, to make household and service arrangements and attend death 
services. In the event of the death of an employee’s sister, brother, stepparents, stepchildren, 
grandmother, grandfather, spouse’s grandparents or grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, 
sister in-law, or brother in-law, the employee shall be granted up to three (3) days’ leave for 
absence, with full pay, to make household adjustments and arrange for or attend the death 
services. For relatives other than mentioned above, such as aunt, uncle, niece, nephew or first 
cousin, the employee may use available personal time, Paid Tim Off (PTO), or Earned Paid 
Leave (EPL) for absences. The employee may be required to furnish their immediate supervisor 
with proof of death.  

9.10: Jury Duty 

Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees who are called for jury duty should 
promptly notify their Supervisor/ Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) to ensure 
appropriate arrangements are made. The employee will receive his or her regular paycheck and 
are required to forward payments received for their jury duty to the Department of Finance, with 
the exception of mileage reimbursement. This procedure will compensate employees for any 
difference in pay. Employees excused from jury duty must report back to work if it is during 
their normal working hours.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 48 

9.11: Life Threatening Illness 

In the event an employee submits a physician’s certification to the Town Manager (or Designee) 
that the employee has a life-threatening illness an is expected to result in premature death, the 
Town Manager (or Designee) may make an exception to the existing sick leave and PTO/EPL 
sections of this Personnel Policy Handbook and pay the employee’s entire accrual record to the 
employee.  

9.12: Absent Without Leave 

An employee absent from work for five (5) consecutive days without approved leave shall be 
absent without leave. The employee shall be considered terminated after written notice, by the 
Town Manager (or Designee), to the employee (or the employee’s last known address).  

SECTION 10:  

REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES 

10.1: Mileage Compensation (Note: Repeal former, separate policy adopted 1/2/24) 

Employees required to drive personal vehicles for approved, legitimate municipal purposes shall 
be compensated by the Town at the amounts set by the IRS Per Diem daily rates (when 
government rates are available), the IRS mileage reimbursement rate, or another rate agreed to 
by the Town Manager (or Designee). Compensation may be approved as a “reimbursement” 
under an Accountable Plan. Elected Officials, Volunteers, and those appointed to Boards, 
Committees, or Commissions are excluded from mileage compensation benefits unless otherwise 
approved by the Town Manager (or Designee) for specific purposes, excluding regular meetings. 

Employees will be paid by an approved appropriation in the departmental budget. The 
appropriation will be in the best interest of the Town. Travel will be accomplished at the least 
cost to the Town. Expenses incurred in excess of the approved appropriation will be subject to 
approval by the Town Manager (or Designee). 

Accountable Plan – Mileage Reimbursement: 

Eligible mileage reimbursement will be granted at the prevailing IRS rate per mile if using 
personal vehicles for approved business-related travel. Home to office travel is not compensable. 

The Town shall reimburse employees for business travel at the lesser of (a.) mileage from home 
to destination (excluding “normal place of business”. For the purpose of this policy, “normal 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 49 

place of business” shall mean the location the employee works on a day-to-day basis), or (b.) 
mileage from normal place of business to destination.  

Employees are responsible for documenting all travel logs on the official mileage reimbursement 
log approved by the Town Manager (or Designee). All travel logs shall be submitted to the Town 
Manager for approval on a monthly basis. At the discretion of the Town Manager (or Designee), 
travel logs may be submitted on a every other month or quarterly basis and such requests will be 
reviewed on a case-by-case basis.  

10.2: Meals, Lodging and Other Expenses 

Meals: 

The Town will reimburse employees for meal expenses incurred in the event of long-term 
arrangements, such as the necessity for overnight lodging (i.e: attending training beyond the 
employee’s residency where travel to and from would create an unreasonable burden on the 
employee). The employee must furnish all detailed meal receipts for reimbursement (a summary 
of the total paid will not be accepted). The Town will reimburse up to $40 per meal. The Town 
will not reimburse for the items: 

• Sales Tax
• Alcoholic beverages, movies, admissions and personal incidental expenses that may be

incurred while traveling for work-related purposes but are not otherwise related to or
necessary for the performance of work.

The Town does not encourage employees to purchase any goods or services for the Town. 
However, under certain circumstances, such as emergencies or unusual events an employee may 
make appropriate purchases upon approval of the Town Manager (or Designee) and provided 
that other means of the Town’s Purchasing Procedure was not reasonable given the 
circumstances.  

10.3: Parking Fees and Tolls 

Employees will be reimbursed for parking fees and tolls provided that the cost was incurred 
during travel for legitimate Town business. The employee shall document such fee(s) incurred 
with their travel logs and additionally shall furnish all appropriate receipts. The Town will not 
reimburse employees for parking tickets and/or motor vehicle violations or infractions.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 50 

10.4: Reimbursement Procedure 

Employees shall submit any required official forms with attached receipts, if applicable, no later 
than thirty (30) days to the Town Manager (or Designee) for approval.  

SECTION 11:  

MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1: Freedom of Access Act Policy 

All employees are expected to adhere to the Town’s Freedom of Access Act Policy entitled 
“Town of Lyman, Maine Policy Governing Access to Public Records Under the Freedom of 
Accesses Act”. Refer to this policy for procedural details.  

Additionally, all Town records, whether classified as public or confidential, are the property of 
the Town of Lyman including but not limited to; final and/or draft form documents; emails either 
sent, received, junk, draft, or deleted; audio and/or video recordings; any data, text, and 
voicemail on Town cellular devices, historical records, and any other record required to be 
maintained in accordance to the Maine State Archives Local Government Record Retention 
Schedules. All Town records will be maintained in accordance with State and Federal law.  

Training: Any employee required by State law Title 1 M.R.S sec. 412 shall complete the 
minimum requirements of training within 120 days of their oath of office. If the oath is annual, 
then the training must be completed annually.  

No employee shall destroy and/or permanently remove any record of the Town either knowingly 
or unknowingly and any violation will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination. Any employee found in violation shall be responsible for the cost for recreation 
and/or replacement of said documents.  

11.2: Severability 

If any provision of this Personnel Policy Handbook to any person or circumstance(s) is held 
invalid, this invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of the Employee Personnel 
Policy Handbook which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application. For this 
purpose, the Employee Personnel Policy is severable.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 51 

11.3: Amendments & Interpretation 

The Town of Lyman reserves the right to unilaterally amend, delete, modify or change these 
polices without prior notice and at any time for any reason. The Town Manager (or Designee) 
and Town Select Board shall have exclusive and final authority to interpret these polices.  

11.4: Definitions 

Appointed Official: Anyone appointed to a board or committee to perform duties in the capacity 
of that board or committee.  

Employee: An individual working for the Town on a permanent or temporary basis drawing wage 
or a stipend from the Town.  

Financial Interest: A direct or indirect interest having monetary or pecuniary value, including, 
but not limited to, the ownership of shares of stock.  

Immediate Family: Spouse, children, parents, siblings, including step, half, and in-law relations, 
a domestic partner of a Town official, or persons sharing the same household and intermingling 
financial assets with a Town official.  

Special Interest: Any interest which will allow some form of personal gain, usually pecuniary in 
nature.  

Town Official: Any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their capacity 
serve a role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such services 
related to municipal affairs. 

Volunteer: Anyone conducting specific business and/or duties on behalf of the Town as delegated 
by the Town Manager or Select Board either on a temporary or permanent basis and does not 
receive wage or stipend from the Town.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 52 

This revised policy supersedes any and all other Personnel policies adopted and/or revised 

prior to ______date 

Adopted: April 16, 1990 
Revised: September 2, 1997 
Revised: September 6, 1999 
Revised: March 6, 2000 
Revised: August 28, 2002 
Revised: July 5, 2005 
Amended: September 6, 2005 
Amended: September 2, 2008 
Amended: March 1, 2010 
Amended: June 20, 2011 
Amended: August 15, 2011 
Amended: March 2, 2015 
Amended: May 15, 2017 
Amended: September 17, 2018 
Amended: April 16, 2019 
Revised: ______Date 

Revision/Amendment adopted and signed by a majority of the Select Board 

on this _______ day of ___________, _________: 

______________________________________Ralph “Rusty” Blackington - Chair 

______________________________________Thomas Hatch – Vice Chair

______________________________________Jessica Picard 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

DRAFT



Report to Selectmen 

Month of January 2024 

2023-2024 Tax Year 

Real Estate Tax Commitment - $7,871,329.42 
Personal Property Tax Commitment – $    39,116.55 

Total Tax Commitment: $7.910,445.97 

Supplemental Taxes YTD: $    231.61 
Abatements Granted YTD: $      5,050.32  
Prior Year(s) Abatement(s) YTD: $       58.50 

Real Estate / Personal Property Tax Payments Collected $54,045.44 
Includes Current, Delinquent, Prepayments, and Lien Payments for the month. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

Monthly Excise Tax 

Excise Tax Received 
Vehicles registered here at office:   $  81,306.06 
Online Rapid Renewal Service      15,161.30 
Total Vehicle Excise   $  97,467.36 

Boat Excise 
Boats registered here at office:   $        131.90  
Online Registration Service   $___    83.80 

Total Boat Excise    $        215.70 

Total Excise   $   97,683.06 

Excise Tax Reimbursement      $     5,193.58    
Excise Tax Collected by State 

Year-to-date excise collection   $  767,501.46

Respectfully submitted:  Susan J. Bellerose, Tax Collector 

ITEM #6: (a.) Tax Collector Report



Salt Shed 

Electrical Panel needs to be replaced due to corrosion from salt. 
Breakers are corroded; Electrical Inspector took a look at it and 
determined the panel needs to be replaced. Estimate received for 
$900.00.  

Funds will need to come out of either: 

Capital Improvement  

Or 

Reserves or Contingency 

ITEM #7: (a.) Salt Shed Repairs



MAINE STATE SECURITY SERVICES 

Mailing address: 
PO Box 157 

East Waterboro ME 04030 

Physical Address: 
1308 New County Road 

Dayton, ME 04005 

Estimate 
Date Estimate # 

2/8/2024 2201 

Terms 

Net 15 

Description Qty Cost Total 

ANNUAL MONITORING OF THE COMMERCIAL FIRE AND BURGLAR ALARM 1 372.00 372.00 
OVER OWNER SUPPLIED PHONE LINES, MAIN FARADAY FIRE ALARM TRIPS 
HONEYWELL COMMERCIAL FIRE ALARM FOR REPORTING 

ANNUAL OPENING AND CLOSING REPORTS EMAILED WEEKLY 1 220.00 220.00 

ANNUAL REQUIRED BY CODE NFPA FIRE ALARM TESTING AND INSPECTION 1 350.00 350.00 
AS DESCRIBED IN NFPA 72. 

ACCESS CONTROL SYSTEM 1 3,249.00 3,249.00 
1- LINEAR EMERGE ESSENTIALS ES4MP 4 DOOR ACCESS CONTROL SERVER
WITH BUILT IN POWER SUPPLY FOR ELECTRIC STRIKES
2- P640HA CARD READER WITH BUILT IN NUMERIC KEYPAD
2- DOOR POSITION SWITCHES
1- BOX 25 KEY FOBS
1- INSTALLATION, PROGRAM AND TEST

1- ELECTRIFIED MAIN FRONT DOOR AND DOOR GOING TO OFFICE, THIS WORK 1 1,840.00 1,840.00 
WILL BE SUB OUT TO JAB LOCKSMITH, THIS WILL INCLUDE INSTALLING NEW
PADDLES, NEW ELECTRIC STRIKES

SMALL ENOUGH TO CARE, LARGE ENOUGH TO SERVE 
Subtotal $6,031.00 

Sales Tax (6.0%) $0.00 

Total $6,031.00 

NEW TOTAL : $5,089 

Signature 

TOWN OF LYMAN 
11 SOUTH WATERBORO ROAD 
LYMAN, ME 04002 

Name / Address 

ITEM #7: (b.) Access Control System Updates



LYMAN PARKS & RECREATION FIELD USE REQUEST FORM 
11 South Waterboro Rd. 
Lyman, Me. 04002 

NAME OF ORGANIZATION: ____________________________________________________ 

TEAM NAME: ________________________________________________________________ 

CONTACT PERSON: ___________________________________________________________ 

EMAIL ADDRESS: ____________________________________________________________

ADDRESS: ___________________________________________________________________ 

PHONE #:(home)___________________ (work)__________________(cell)________________

ALTERNATE CONTACT:_______________________________________________________ 

EMAIL ADDRESS:_____________________________________________________________ 

PHONE #:(home)___________________ (work)__________________(cell)________________ 

FIELD REQUESTED:___________________________________________________________ 

PURPOSE: ______GAMES   ______PRACTICES  ______LEAGUE  ______TOURNAMENT 

     ______BASEBALL  ______SOFTBALL______SOCCER ______  OTHER 

PITCHING DISTANCE: ______________________ BASE DISTANCE __________________ 

AGE GROUP: ______________________________ #OF PLAYERS:_____________________ 

RESIDENCE OF PLAYERS:_____________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

The application must be accompanied with a complete listing of all practices and/or games you 
are requesting with this application.  Include all dates, days of the week and start/end times. 

SIGNATURE:_____________________________________________DATE:______________ 

PARKS & REC. SIGNATURE:_______________________________DATE:______________ 

APPROVED:______________________________________________DATE:______________ 

NOTES: _____________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

S.M.A.S.H (Southern Maine Athletic Sports Haven)

TBD

Kristen Cunningham

kristen.cunningham@ymail.com

245 Main St South Berwick, ME 03908

(207)-608-1148 Same

Chris Molda

cjmolda@hotmail.com

(207)-475-6453

Bunganut Soccer Field on Brock Rd

X X

X
N/A N/A

3-16 Approx 60

Mostly Lyman, as well as, surrounding Southern Maine towns. 

2/62024

ITEM #7: (c.) Field Use Request Form. 

mnikel
Highlight

mnikel
Line

mnikel
Line



MONTH:________________ 

W/E__________________

 DAYS:   MON.     TUES.      WED.     THUR..     FRI.      SAT.       SUN.   (PLEASE CIRCLE) 

TIMES: ______________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

MONTH:________________ 

W/E____________________   

 DAYS:   MON.     TUES.      WED.     THUR..     FRI.      SAT.       SUN.   (PLEASE CIRCLE) 

TIMES: ______________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

MONTH:_______________ 

W/E____________________   

 DAYS:   MON.     TUES.      WED.     THUR..     FRI.      SAT.       SUN.   (PLEASE CIRCLE) 

TIMES: ______________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

MONTH:________________ 

W/E____________________   

 DAYS:   MON.     TUES.      WED.     THUR..     FRI.      SAT.       SUN.   (PLEASE CIRCLE) 

TIMES: ______________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

MONTH:________________ 

W/E____________________   

 DAYS:   MON.     TUES.      WED.     THUR..     FRI.      SAT.       SUN.   (PLEASE CIRCLE) 

TIMES: ______________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

April

2nd week, End of April   

10am - 2pm Monday - Friday

May

All weeks

June

1st Two Weeks, until school gets for Summer

10am - 2pm Monday - Friday

10am - 2pm Monday - Friday

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Inserted Text
10am - 3pm 

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval

mnikel
Oval


	TOL Personnel Policy DRAFT.pdf
	Blank Page




